SERIES BUI

SR1 (1987)

BUILDING RESEARCH ASSOCIATION OF NEW ZEALAND



PROFILED SHEET STEEL CLADDINGS AS DIAPHRAGMS — A GENERAL REVIEW

P.K.A. Yiu



PREFACE

This general review forms the first part of a research programme undertaken by BRANZ to prepare design information for profiled sheet steel diaphragms associated with local steel and timber framed constructions. Such information is not readily available from current overseas standards, codes of practice and design guides.

The author wishes to acknowledge the assistance of Alyson Gabriel, Eppie McDougall, Polly Buckland and Mary Brown of the BRANZ Library; and to express his gratitute to Stuart Thomson of Steltech Developments Limited for valuable discussions.

This paper is intended for other workers in the field of structural engineering research, and will also be of use to design engineers.

PROFILED SHEET STEEL CLADDINGS AS DIAPHRAGMS - A GENERAL REVIEW

BRANZ Study Report SR1

P.K.A. Yiu

REFERENCE

Yiu, P.K.A. 1987. Profiled sheet steel claddings as diaphragms - a general review. Building Research Association of New Zealand, BRANZ Study Report SR1, Judgeford.

KEYWORDS

From Construction Industry Thesaurus - BRANZ edition: Bibliography; Claddings; Diaphragms; Design; Fixing devices; Flexibility; Joints;

New Zealand; Profiled finishes; Sheet; Steel; Strength; Stressed skin structures; Testing; Thickness; Timber.

ABSTRACT

Light gauge profiled steel claddings can act effectively as structural diaphragms and in so doing can enhance a building's performance. Much work has been done overseas to establish standards, codes of practice and design guides in this field. Unfortunately, few of these are readily applicable in New Zealand because of differences in local products and practices.

This review forms the first part of a research programme aimed at establishing the appropriate guidelines and to provide basic data for using such diaphragm action in New Zealand. The aspects covered include the modes and conditions of diaphragm action, New Zealand and overseas practices as well as developments in design overseas. Future work needed to achieve the aim is discussed.

| CONTENTS | |
|----------|--|
| | |

.

| page |
|------|
|------|

•

| INTRODUCTION | 1 |
|--|-----------------------|
| STRUCTURAL MODES OF DIAPHRAGM ACTION | 2 |
| NECESSARY CONDITIONS FOR DIAPHRAGM ACTION AND DESIGN | 3 |
| NOTES ON SOME ASPECTS OF PROFILED SHEET STEEL DIAPHRAGMS General Proportions and Fixing Flexibility and Strength Seam and Shear Connector Fasteners Purlin Fasteners Purlin or Perpendicular Member Spacing Erection | 4 4 4 5 5 |
| OVERSEAS PRACTICES Australia Western Europe North America | 5 5 5 6 |
| DESIGN Design of Diaphragm Panels Associated with Steel Framing Members Design of Diaphragm Panels Associated with Timber Framing Members Design of Sheeted Buildings | 6 6 8 8 |
| STANDARDS, CODES OF PRACTICE AND DESIGN GUIDES | 9 |
| NEW ZEALAND SITUATION | 10 |

| FUTURE WORK | 12 |
|--------------|----|
| CONCLUSIONS | 13 |
| REFERENCES | 15 |
| BIBLIOGRAPHY | 17 |

.

| FIGURES | | page |
|-----------|--|------|
| Figure 1: | Diaphragm action in a flat-roofed building with non-rigid frames | 14 |
| Figure 2: | Diaphragm action in a pitched-roof building | 14 |
| Figure 3: | Diaphragm action in a wall | 14 |

·

INTRODUCTION

By the use of modern forming techniques, light gauge steel can be profiled to enhance overall strength and stiffness and to meet both functional and aesthetic requirements (various authors, see 1). Nowadays, the diversity of applications for profiled sheet steel in buildings is enormous. They range from roofing, decking, flooring and cladding as well as architectural finishes in domestic, commercial, agricultural and industrial buildings (various authors, see 2).

It has long been recognised (Johnson, 1950) that assembled systems of profiled sheeting, used as roof or wall cladding and properly fastened, besides being able to sustain loadings normal to their surface, can also display strong resistance to loads acting in their own plane. Such loads may be induced by wind, blast or seismic action, by frame-cladding interaction or by shell behaviour of certain types of roofs (Davies and Bryan, 1982). In all such cases, loads applied in the plane of the sheeting result in membrane stresses. The resulting stressed membrane is usually referred to as a diaphragm. In the complete assemblage, the sheets are stressed mainly in shear, while axial forces are resisted by This membrane, stressed skin or framing members which carry them. diaphragm action provides increased strength and stiffness to a building and can also be used to stabilise structural elements (various authors, In Europe, the method of structural design allowing for this see 3). action is normally termed 'stressed skin design' (Bryan, 1973c). However, to be consistent with the terminology commonly adopted in New Zealand, the terms diaphragm and diaphragm design will be used in this review. Also, the term panel is used to represent a sheeting and framing member assembly which forms part or the whole of the diaphragm.

In reality, diaphragm action always occurs in buildings whether or not it is taken into account in the design. If it is ignored, there exists the possibility that the sheeting or fastener may be overstressed even at working load. However, by properly acknowledging its existence, safer and more economical structures can be designed. Economic studies conducted in Europe involving various countries (European Convention for Constructional Steelwork (ECCS) and Constructional Steel Research and Development Organisation (CONSTRADO), 1976) indicated that savings of about 10 per cent of the total cost of the steelwork and sheeting could be achieved by considering diaphragm action in comparison with adopting conventional roof bracing in large rectangular clad structures.

Generally, the benefits of incorporating diaphragm action in the design can be summarised as follows:

- Efficient use of materials.
- Because claddings can serve the dual purposes as primary structure and covering surface, savings can be made in the cost of the structural framework. This can usually be done with little or no extra cost to the cladding or fixing.
- Reduced frame stresses and deflections compared with unclad frames, and elimination of structural members that would otherwise be required (various authors, see 4).
- The 'true' behaviour of the complete building rather than the idealised behaviour of the frame is examined.

The elimination of bracing results in a clean looking clad structure which may better suit architectural requirements.

In the last thirty years, analysis of profiled sheet steel diaphragms has been the subject of considerable investigation (various authors, see 5) and established design methods are now used routinely overseas (various authors, see 6). However, not much of these methods or data is in a suitable form for immediate use by designers in New Zealand. This work forms the first part of a research programme undertaken by BRANZ to remedy this situation.

In this review, the modes and conditions of diaphragm action are first briefly outlined. Various overseas practices and developments in design are then generally reviewed. A summary of local practices is also included. It forms the basis for assessment of future work to prepare diaphragm design information for local constructions. Finally, a bibliography is presented to assist designers and research workers to obtain background information.

This review concentrates on profiled sheet steel applications in conventional low-rise steel or timber framed building structures. Multistorey buildings and special frameless structures involving roof shapes in the form of folded plates, cylindrical shells and hyperbolic paraboloids (ECCS, 1977) which may rely almost entirely on in-plane resistance of profiled sheetings, are not included.

STRUCTURAL MODES OF DIAPHRAGM ACTION

A panel of light gauge profiled steel sheeting only contributes to the strength and stiffness of a building when such inherent characteristics are mobilised by deformations in its own plane.

When a flat-roofed building with non-rigid frames is subjected to lateral loads (Figure 1), each roof panel acts as a diaphragm transmitting the load back to the gable ends which are properly stiffened. This is analogous to the roof functioning as a deep plate girder where the roof sheeting acts as the web and transmits the displacement forces to the rigid end gables by means of shear field in the sheeting; and the eave purlins and the end gables resist axial forces induced by bending and endreactions respectively. Buildings with flat roofs receive no contribution from this in-plane action in resisting vertical loads.

For a pitched-roof building with flexible or unbraced intermediate frames (Figure 2), besides resisting lateral loads as described, the in-plane action also contributes positively to resist vertical loads. For these structures, the component of the vertical load along the roof slope also mobilises the in-plane resistance of the roof diaphragm which in turn prevents the frames from spreading outwards. The flatter the pitch of the roof the less effective is this resistance, but the more effective it is under lateral load.

When the cladding is used as walls in a conventional building (Figure 3), they can also act effectively as vertical cantilever diaphragms to control sway. The behaviour is similar to that of horizontal roof diaphragms.

The strength of the cladding connections is generally critical with regard to the ultimate shear capacity of the diaphragm assembly (various authors, see 6).

NECESSARY CONDITIONS FOR DIAPHRAGM ACTION AND DESIGN

In order that diaphragm action be used safely and the design be reliable, nine conditions must be satisfied (various authors, see 7):

- (1) The cladding materials which form the diaphragm should have a high degree of reliability as regards both strength and stiffness and preferably also exhibit ductility so that redistribution of forces can occur. They should be designed for their primary purpose as cladding unless a separate cladding is provided for the purpose.
- (2) The claddings and fixings shall be suitably protected so as to ensure durability, i.e., maintain a satisfactory appearance and performance throughout the design life; and have adequate fire resistance (BS 5427, 1976). Generally, because the membrane stresses are relatively small compared with normal bending stresses, the claddings will fail in primary bending first even if corrosion were to take place. Nevertheless, proper attention must be paid to the possibility of accelerated corrosion at the connections due to dissimilar metals in contact, and relevant advice to guard against this is well documented (Corrugated Steel Manufacturers' Association et al, 1981; Thomson, 1987).
- (3) The claddings must be positively connected to their supporting members, and laps of adjacent sheets must also be firmly fastened so that diaphragm forces can be transmitted through successive sheets. It is essential that the fasteners will not work loose during service and undesirable for them to fail prematurely in a brittle manner. They should be able to sustain the forces arising from diaphragm action as well as from wind uplift, if appropriate.

(4) Suitable structural members and associated connections should be provided to transmit forces arising from diaphragm action to the main structural framework and thence to the foundation.

For roof diaphragms, the edge members in the direction of the span of the diaphragm and their intermediate joints should have sufficient capacity to carry the longitudinal forces arising from diaphragm action, as in the flanges of plate girders; and the connections to the rafter must be adequate. The end gables must be properly braced so that the diaphragm force in the roof claddings can be taken down to the foundations. Otherwise, the claddings will have a negligible effect, they may merely participate in distributing concentrated lateral load on the building between frames, but will not help in the case of a uniformly distributed lateral load.

- (5) Significant panel openings are undesirable and certain restrictions regarding area and position are necessary.
- (6) The design must be based on established analytical procedures or by standard tests.
- (7) It is desirable that diaphragms be designed so that the failure mode is ductile.
- (8) Diaphragm action should be used primarily to resist wind or snow loads which are applied through the cladding; so that if the cladding is removed, so also is most of the load. It is also suitable for resisting other transient dynamic loads, e.g., surge

forces from overhead cranes or earthquake wave loads. Diaphragm action should not be used to resist large permanent loads because accidental damages or inadvertent removal of the claddings for maintenance, extension or modification purposes could prove disastrous.

(9) For those structures in which diaphragm action provides complete or partial stability of the structure, proper precautions should be taken when it is necessary to remove a vital portion of the cladding or associated structural members which transmit the diaphragm forces to the foundation.

NOTES ON SOME ASPECTS OF PROFILED SHEET STEEL DIAPHRAGMS

General Proportions and Fixing

The effectiveness of a diaphragm relies on the appropriate ratio of span to depth. In general, for flat-roofed buildings, the length between stiffened frames should be less than four times the depth; whereas for pitched-roof buildings, the corresponding length should be less than two and a half times the depth (Davies and Bryan, 1982). For longer buildings, intermediate stiffening frames should be used. Normally, unless the diaphragm is very lightly loaded, deflections are likely to be excessive or the benefit of diaphragm action small if the ratio of span to depth of the diaphragm exceeds about four.

Fastening on all four sides of a diaphragm assembly, i.e., incorporating shear connectors, will produce a more efficient diaphragm than that where sheets are fastened at seams and on to perpendicular members only.

Flexibility and Strength

The flexibility of a complete diaphragm assembly is dependent on the flexibilities of the individual components, including the claddings themselves, the connections and the supporting framework; and the strength is controlled by that of the most highly stressed part (various authors, see 8).

Seam and Shear Connector Fasteners

For most diaphragms, the overall strength is likely to be dictated by the capacity of seam connections or sheet to shear connector connections (if adopted) (various authors, see 6). These connections should be designed such as to obtain failure by tearing of the sheeting at the fastener rather than by shear failure of the fastener itself. The first mode allows failure to occur gradually in a ductile mode and permits force redistribution to take place; whereas the latter occurs suddenly without warning.

Purlin Fasteners

For profiled sheet diaphragms it has been found that if the cladding is fastened at every corrugation along the purlin, the diaphragm is usually much stiffer than if fasteners are used only at alternate or less frequent corrugations. However, provided fasteners are used in every corrugation at eave and/or ridge purlins, the diaphragm is very nearly as stiff as if fasteners are used in every corrugation at every purlin. This is convenient because one generally needs to fasten every corrugation at eave and/or ridge purlins in order to cater for the requirements of high local wind suction. Consequently, these fasteners are used to good purpose both by wind suction and diaphragm action and should be designed accordingly. Fastening through the trough of the cladding also resulted in a much stronger and stiffer diaphragm than adopting crest fixings (Davies and Bryan, 1982).

For diaphragms associated with thin sheetings of shallow depth, buckling of the claddings (Davies and Bryan, 1982; Turnbull et al, 1975, 1982, 1985; Gebremedhin and Irish, 1986) may be the critical mode of failure whereby a number of buckling waves develop across the panel. This type of failure is related to the purlin spacings as well as the spacings and withdrawal capacity of the purlin fasteners; especially those located at or adjacent to the crest of the buckling wave. Thus the purlin fasteners may be influential in confining the buckling of claddings to between purlins or prohibit its development.

Purlin or Perpendicular Member Spacing

In general, for the same pattern of fastening along the purlin, increasing the number of purlins (or perpendicular members) will increase the number of purlin fasteners thus resulting in a stronger diaphragm. However, this benefit may no longer apply when the seam connections are strong and the overall diaphragm strength is controlled by other failure modes, e.g., sheeting failures (White, 1986).

Erection

Proper attention must be paid to the erection of all diaphragm-assisted structures as they only act as a load-resisting unit when the whole surface and associated framework are completed. Thus temporary bracing may be essential during construction (CONSTRADO, 1973a).

Australia

The traditional practice in Australian domestic constructions has been to crest-fix the roof sheeting, especially corrugated sheeting, to minimise leakage problems (Nash and Boughton, 1981). However, trough fastenings have also been adopted to ensure more efficient diaphragm action (Beck, 1973; Sved, Rehn and Lawrence, 1972). Based on manufacturers' and suppliers' information, the profile height of common trapezoidal sheeting ranges from 16 mm to 38 mm. Typical steel thicknesses are 0.45 mm and 0.8 mm while the nominal yield stress can be 300 MPa or 550 MPa (Maricic, 1979; John Lysaght (Australia) Limited, 1980a). The usual recommendation for fastening to steel or timber frames is to use hexagonal head roofing screws with neoprene washers. Side laps are generally fastened by lapstitch screws.

Western Europe

In Britain, both sinusoidal and trapezoidal profiles are used (CONSTRADO, 1980; Roofing, Cladding and Insulation, 1985, 1986); although most British architects tend to specify trapezoidal profiles for use horizontally and vertically due to their sharper appearance (Brookes, 1984). The steel thickness and profile height generally range from 0.4 mm to 1.2 mm and 19 mm to 90 mm respectively. Self-drilling self-tapping screws, wood screws, self-tapping screws and rivets, as appropriate, are the usual means of fastening to framing members and for seams. Trough fixing is a common practice. Also, a number of standard public building systems, e.g. CLASP, SEAC, SCOLA have used the roof deck as a diaphragm in the construction of

schools, college, library and other public buildings (Bell, 1984; Bryan, 1973b; Davies and Bryan, 1982). Other applications include commercial and industrial buildings as well as nursery schools (Davies, Nemir and Taylor, 1986).

In Sweden, surface elements are normally made up of channel sections of relatively high profiles, i.e., 50 mm to 112 mm (Baehre, 1975a). Joints primarily applied are riveted and non-conventional screwed connections. Common sheetings are of high yield steel with nominal yield stress of about 340 MPa.

North America

For steel-framed buildings, common North American diaphragm practice involves welding profiled sheeting to perimeter members in every corrugation and on all four sides to produce a very strong diaphragm (Lawson, 1976c). Seam welding is generally performed on an upstand overlap to reduce the risk of poor fusion, and this is reflected in a high strength factor to allow for the variability of site welding. One feature of American practice not found in Europe is that the sheets are often puddle-welded to the steel framework and to each other. This is because the much higher wind, snow and earthquake loads experienced in North America make welding appear more viable than in, say, Britain.

In the United States of America, the panels used for such installation include those having open corrugated cross-section as well as cellular section made by spot welding hat sections to flat sheets. Steel thickness and panel depth range from 0.5 mm to 2.5 mm and 40 mm to 150 mm respectively. Various systems of fastening are employed depending upon strength requirements and economy and include self-tapping screw fasteners, welds and clinched seams (CONSTRADO, 1977a, 1977b).

In Canada, the combination of welding and button punching of seams are used to lower site cost, the design is generally carried out by extrapolating test data (Canadian Sheet Steel Building Institute (CSSBI), 1972).

For timber-framed constructions, light gauge steel roof and wall systems have been used in North American agricultural and commercial buildings for many years (various authors, see 9). The cladding is fastened to the structural framework with nails or screws while for side laps, selfdrilling self-tapping screws, stitch screws as well as glue (White, 1978, 1986) have been used. Both trough and crest fixings have been used. In Canadian farm buildings, the steel thickness and profile height generally range from 0.3 mm to 0.46 mm and 16 mm to 25 mm respectively (Agriculture Canada, 1985).

DESIGN

Design of Diaphragm Panels Associated With Steel Framing Members

For profiled sheet steel diaphragm panels associated with steel framing members, various design approaches have been developed mainly to address the problems of flexibility and strength (various authors, see 8). Most of the research work in North America and Western Europe has been concentrated on trapezoidal profiles employing trough fixings because of their efficiency and wider applications. Sinusoidal profiles are less popular subjects for study. The design approaches developed include testing, simplified equations, finite element methods and design tables.

Testing

The in-plane characteristics of a diaphragm can be determined on the basis of test loading the diaphragm panels. These tests with regard to system and loadings, are as near as possible equivalent to the actual mode of action. The test procedures are well documented (American Iron and Steel Institute (A.I.S.I.), 1967). Both cantilever panel tests as well as full scale tests can be performed. For unusual shapes or arrangement of diaphragms, testing is still the most reliable method if boundary conditions are correctly simulated. Nevertheless, not all the desirable information can be gained from tests apart from deformations, failure loads and modes. Testing is generally time-consuming and uneconomical as a design tool.

On the other hand, tests of connections between sheeting and framing members and sheeting to sheeting are essential in order to obtain the basic flexibility and strength data for analysis or design by calculations. The appropriate test methods are well documented (ECCS, 1978, 1984) and extensive tests have been carried out to collect design data for common practices overseas (Davies and Bryan, 1982; Grimshaw, 1979).

Simplified Equations

For general design purposes, calculations may proceed on the basis of an assumed distribution of internal forces which satisfy the requirements of equilibrium. The approximate internal force distribution can be established by tests or other refined methods, e.g., finite element methods.

Various equations based on this approach have been developed, mainly for trapezoidal sheeting with trough fixings employing mechanical or welded connections (various authors, see 10). The permissible strength is normally determined by comparing different failure modes while overall flexibility is obtained by summing the flexibilities of the constituent elements.

In general, this approach is useful, efficient and very attractive as a design tool. However, it still has its limitations in that the equations are normally applicable to diaphragms of a particular form.

Finite Element Methods

When unusual features or need for greater accuracy justifies the more refined analysis, finite element methods employing the use of computers can be used (various authors, see 11). The complete diaphragm is modelled as an assemblage of three types of elements; the individual sheet sections, the connectors and the supporting framing members. Stiffnesses of the sheeting and the frame can be established either analytically or by experiments, while those for the connections can only be obtained by tests, and analyses proceed using conventional matrix methods.

Both linear and non-linear finite element analyses have been developed and established computer programmes are available for commercial use. Nonlinear analysis essentially takes into account the nonlinearity of the connections (Atrek and Nilson, 1976, 1980). However, it is generally agreed (Atrek and Nilson, 1981; Davies, 1980b) that for practical purposes, the complexity of the full non-linear finite element analysis is unnecessary.

ŧ

In this respect, it has been demonstrated (Davies, 1972, 1973, 1977; Davies and Lawson, 1978a) that analogue frame analyses can replace complicated finite element analyses and produce satisfactory results for design.

Design Tables

It is also possible to quickly produce solutions to flat roof designs without the need for detailed analyses. This can be achieved through design tables based on simplified equations (Bryan and Davies, 1981) which give in a simple form the strength and stiffness of profiled sheet steel roof diaphragms. The tabulated results are generally valid for a particular assumed condition using data related to profile dimensions, fixing specification and sheeting layout patterns. It can be appreciated that compiling design data in a general tabular form involves the use of a number of conservative assumptions and as the number of variables is reduced, the design tables become simpler but also less economical in many cases, but even so they may still be adequate.

Design of Diaphragm Panels Associated With Timber Framing Members

The investigations of diaphragms of light gauge profiled steel sheeting associated with timber framing members (various authors, see 12) are less extensive than those associated with steel structures. Most of the work is related to agricultural and domestic buildings and the design is normally carried out by direct panel tests or by extrapolation of test data. Relatively little effort (various authors, see 13) has been devoted to the establishment of simplified equations. Diaphragms studied are usually fastened with screws. The established prediction procedures for steel-framed panels employing simplified equations or finite element

methods cannot be immediately applied to timber-framed light gauge metal diaphragms because their validity is not confirmed by experiments. There is also a lack of basic information on connection characteristics.

Design of Sheeted Buildings

For steel structures, on the basis of the deformation modulii of roof and wall diaphragms (deformation per unit load acting in the plane of the diaphragm), a building made up, for instance, of wall and roof diaphragms or roof diaphragms and frame can be designed for the working range in accordance with elastic theory using established structural principles (Davies and Bryan, 1982; ECCS, 1977). If the wall and roof diaphragms or roof diaphragms and frame have sufficient deformation capacity while retaining their load capacity, then the building can be designed for the ultimate range according to the plastic theory (Davies, 1973; Davies and Bryan, 1982; ECCS, 1977). Studies on sheet steel buildings have included the effects of various factors such as insulation (Lapin, 1974), noncontinuous sheets (Davies and Bryan, 1982), roof light openings (Davies and Lawson, 1978a) and concentrated loads (Davies, 1978a). The correlation between theory and measured results for tests on sheeted buildings are generally satisfactory (various authors, see 14).

With timber-framed buildings, relatively little work has been carried out to establish analytical methods incorporating full interaction between profiled sheet steel diaphragms and the building framework or to verify this type of diaphragm action in complete buildings using full-scale tests (various authors, see 15) though it could be argued that classical structural principles are equally applicable.

STANDARDS, CODES OF PRACTICE AND DESIGN GUIDES

For profiled sheet steel diaphragm design associated with steel structures, relevant national standards, codes of practice or design guides either exist or are in draft form in Australia (Standards Association of Australia (SAA), 1974), Britain, Canada, Czechoslovakia, Germany, Holland (TNO, 1979), Poland, Sweden (Swedish Institute of Steel Construction, 1982) and the United States of America.

The pioneer research in the United States of America was carried out in Cornell University (Nilson, 1956). The American Iron and Steel Institute published a code on steel diaphragm design in 1967 and this was accepted as the reference practice over the years. The latest version of this code (A.I.S.I., 1987) has just been released. For many years, no fundamental theoretical analyses were given for the strength characteristics of a roof diaphragm. The code instead prescribed that each type of diaphragm which is different from one of the standard sections previously investigated be subjected to tests. Standardised methods of conducting panel tests to determine the strength and flexibility characteristics are given. The latest code now contains guidelines on design by calculations.

In the United States of America, other established design guides employing empirical and semi-empirical methods of design include one published by the Steel Deck Institute (Luttrell, 1981) and another published by the Departments of the Army, the Navy and the Air Force (1982). The former is presented in a limit state format and the method can be used with any fastener or combination of fasteners as long as the connection characteristics are known. The latter is in a working stress format, the equations presented have been derived empirically to fit test data and apply to horizontal diaphragms of buildings having sheets with welded connections to the support members, and button punching or welding for seam connections.

In Canada, there are no standards for the design of light gauge metal diaphragms in steel constructions. There is, however, a design guide (CSSBI, 1972) based on an empirical approach developed from tests conducted for the U.S. Army. Nevertheless, the original work was conducted quite some time ago and it was because of its age and empirical nature that alternative approaches, mainly in simplified equations, were further explored by Canadian research workers (various authors, see 16).

In Britain, a draft standard (British Standards Institution, 1978) containing relevant clauses for 'stressed skin design', was released for public comment in 1978. It is understood (Lazenby, 1985; Private communication, 1987) that work will soon commence on preparing BS 5950, Part 9: Structural use of steelwork in building, code of practice for stressed skin design, under the chairmanship of Prof. E.R. Bryan.

Even though a complete British Standard on 'stressed skin design' is not yet available, extensive work in this field has been carried out over the years by Prof. E.R. Bryan, Prof. J.M. Davies and associated workers, first at the University of Manchester and later at the University of Salford (various authors, see 17). This has led to the publication of a design manual in 1973 (Bryan, 1973c) and then a more comprehensive and general manual on 'stressed skin design' in 1982 (Davies and Bryan, 1982). These documents present design methods for sheeted buildings, i.e., conventional single storey buildings with flat or pitched roofs and with a variable number of pinned or rigid frames. They permit theoretical design of roof diaphragms made up of commonly adopted sheetings, purlins, main members and connections. Some fundamental data, primarily the strength and flexibility characteristics of common connections, which are based on tests, are given. The manuals contain tables which very largely facilitate design.

Parallel to this work, with an aim to simplify the process of designing small flat roofs, design tables (Bryan and Davies, 1981) have also been prepared which enables routine design to be carried out efficiently.

On the whole, the most significant development to date in Europe is the publication of the European Recommendations for the Stressed Skin Design of Steel Structures (ECCS, 1977). It contains the full design method including diaphragm design using simplified equations or cantilever diaphragm tests, and the application of diaphragm action to complete structures together with examples.

The new Polish recommendations for 'stressed skin design' is generally based on ECCS recommendations, as well as the results of extensive theoretical and experimental investigations carried out in Poland (Brodka, Garncarek and Grudka, 1986).

It has been well accepted (various authors, see 6) that the basic characteristics of connections in diaphragms are essential for design by calculations. Although theoretical solutions have been attempted for mechanical connections (Baehre and Berggren, 1973; Toma, 1978b; Strnad, 1979), they generally have the limitations of lack of generality and being grossly conservative for strength computations while few attempts have been made in presenting expressions for flexibility (Davies and Bryan, 1982). Thus it is commonly accepted that these data should be obtained from tests and the European recommendations (ECCS, 1978, 1984) have been prepared for this purpose. For welded connections, design expressions (Pekoz and McGuire, 1979) which incorporate various parameters, are feasible for design.

For profiled sheet steel diaphragm design in timber structures, design by testing is largely based on the American recommendations (A.I.S.I., 1967). Relatively little work (various authors, see 13) has been done on establishing standards, codes of practice or design guides based on simplified equations and tables. There are also no standards for the testing of connections associated with light gauge metal diaphragms and timber supporting members.

NEW ZEALAND SITUATION

Up to the present time, diaphragm design of profiled sheet steel in New Zealand has been inhibited by the lack of appropriate provisions in New Zealand Standards or other design recommendations appropriate for New Zealand use.

A preliminary survey by BRANZ (Brookes, 1984) identified some essential differences between profiled metal systems in New Zealand and those produced in Britain. Those which are likely to affect diaphragm design are: (1) the yield strength and gauge of steel sheet, (2) profiles, and (3) methods of fixing.

(1) Yield Strength and Gauge of Steel Sheet

The bulk of steel used for claddings in the United Kingdom has a minimum lower yield stress of 220 MPa. And the high tensile steel for similar applications used by U.K. roll formers has minimum lower yield stresses of 350 MPa and 550 MPa (BS 2989, 1975; CONSTRADO, 1980). In New Zealand, the commonly used sheeting has a minimum yield strength of 550 MPa, although those having corresponding values at 250-330 MPa (which is similar to profiled steel products in Sweden) are also available.

Sheet steel thicknesses are usually 0.4 mm and 0.55 mm in New Zealand whereas those in Britain are 0.5 mm, 0.75 mm, 1 mm and 1.2 mm

Use of higher strength materials in claddings allows the reduction of material thickness which entails a greater slenderness ratio in the unstiffened cross-section. This may affect the local and overall buckling as well as deformation characteristics of the cladding and the behaviour of the connections (Davies and Bryan, 1982) when such claddings are used as structural diaphragms.

(2) Profiles

Both sinusoidal and trapezoidal profiles are common in Britain and New Zealand. However, in New Zealand, the 'rib and pan' profiles are also popular in domestic buildings. The form for common local sinusoidal profile is generally in accordance with NZS 3403 (1978) which has a nominal profile height of 19 mm while the profile height for common trapezoidal profiles ranges from 25 mm to 58 mm.

(3) Methods of Fixing

'Rib and pan' profiles normally use a secret clip fixing device. The suitability of this fastening method in diaphragm design has not been seriously investigated though it is a commom belief (ECCS, 1977) that fixings relying on friction are unsuitable for transmitting diaphragm forces.

It is the normal practice in Britain to fix sinusoidal sheeting through the crest of the corrugation, but the usual method for trapezoidal sheeting is to fix through the troughs to avoid spreading of the sheeting. In general, trough fixing is preferred for efficient diaphragm action.

In New Zealand, crest fastening has been used traditionally irrespective of the sheet profile and types of construction. It is the common belief that this practice reduces the possibility of leakage in comparison with trough fixings. Nevertheless, trough fixings have been used in wall constructions. When trough fixings are used, the designer's attention is drawn to the necessity of ensuring adequate and permanent sealing to prevent the ingress of water flowing in the trough.

Both steel and timber framing are used locally. Timber constructions are common in domestic buildings and low-rise commercial buildings while steel is more dominant in heavy industrial applications. For timber structures, the purlins are mainly of Radiata pine (Whiteside, 1984) whereas for steel structures, the purlins are normally of cold-formed sections of galvanized high yield strength (450 MPa) or black (280-340 MPa) steel with thicknesses of 1.6 mm, 1.9 mm or 2.5 mm depending on the strength or stiffness required.

Various systems of fastening the claddings to structural members are employed locally, depending upon strength requirements and economy. They include self-drilling self-tapping screws for steel structures and selfdrilling wood screws, plain shank or helically threaded nails for timber structures. Neoprene sealing washers are commonly used. Various cladding manufacturers also recommend self-tapping screws or rivets as seam fasteners if required.

Even with these differences between overseas and local products and practices, the stiffening effects of roof and wall claddings will be similar and cannot be ignored. Clearly, if the cladding to structure fixings are adequate, a substantial contribution would be made by the sheeting. This is particularly advantageous because of the high usage of profiled sheet steel in domestic house constructions; and such constructions form a major part of the New Zealand building industry.

FUTURE WORK

In order to make it possible to perform diaphragm design using analytical methods for New Zealand claddings, the basic data for commonly adopted connections needs to be collected. For trough fixings associated with steel structures and for seam connections, recognised test procedures are well established (ECCS, 1978, 1984) and some data related to particular local products have been collected (Thomson, 1987). However, the effects of using nails in timber structures, and crest fixings, which have received relatively little attention overseas, need to be examined. Appropriate connection test methods have to be developed for trough fixings in timber and crest fixings in general. Other tests on the strength and flexibility of various purlin to rafter connections (Bryan and El-Dakhakhni, 1968b), which are relevant for diaphragms fastened on two sides only, are also necessary.

Although various theoretical methods of design based on simplified

equations are well developed overseas, it is necessary to review their suitability for local applications; and if required, to modify or to develop appropriate solutions. Work in this direction has been attempted (Moss and Aitkin, 1981) but it is essential to include assessment of the latest developments in this field (various authors, see 18). Initially, it will be necessary to confirm the validity of the appropriate analytical approach through panel tests; particularly for applications involving crest fixings in steel structures and crest or trough fixings in timber structures. An analytical approach, if proved feasible, will overcome the shortcoming at present of design based on panel tests alone for these arrangements; as a simple, efficient and economical design tool it is very attractive in relation to the dominant nature of timber constructions in the domestic market. Finite element programmes may also be essential in investigating unusual panels or structures.

For routine design of common cladding arrangements, design tables always hold a tremendous appeal to designers and steps towards preparing such documents, after the basic approach and data are available, are well documented (Davies and Bryan, 1979) and should be pursued for New Zealand.

This constitutes the future work to establish practical design information for profiled sheet steel diaphragms in New Zealand under static loads. In view of the local need to cater for wind and strong earthquake effects, the ductility of this type of diaphragm and its behaviour under fatigue and dynamic loads also warrant special investigation.

CONCLUSIONS

In this paper, the basis of diaphragm action and overseas development are briefly reviewed. The overseas work on trough fixed cladded steel structures has been very extensive and design methods are well developed. However, investigations relevant to local practices are relatively few, i.e., those on crest fixing practices and applications of profiled sheet steel diaphragms in timber framed structures. Local products and practices have been examined and there is no reason why benefits cannot be achieved through incorporating this diaphragm action in the design. Future work to prepare useful design information is identified.

Figure 1 : Diaphragm action in a flat-roofed building with non-rigid frame.

Figure 2 : Diaphragm action in a pitched-roof building.

Figure 3 : Diaphragm action in a wall.

REFERENCES

- Acier-Stahl-Steel, 1974; Andrews, 1986; Brookes and Hampton, 1985; Building Operating Management, 1986; Corrugated Steel Manufacturers' Association et al, 1981; Lawson, 1983; Osbourn, 1985; Sheppard, 1983.
- 2. Agriculture Canada, 1985; Bartak, Kaye and George, 1977; Bell, 1984; Brett, 1982; British Steel Corporation, 1974; Brookes, 1984; Bryan, 1973b, 1973c, 1976; Bryan and Davies, 1975; Corrugated Steel Manufacturers' Association et al, 1981; Butler, 1973; Canadian Sheet Steel Building Institute (CSSBI), 1984, 1986a; Constructional Steel Research and Development Organisation (CONSTRADO), 1973b, 1978, 1980; Davies and Bryan, 1982; Hancke, 1974; Hill, 1966; Josey, 1986; Lawson, 1976; Metal Roof Deck Association, 1970; National Federation of Roofing Contractors, 1982; New Zealand Heavy Engineering Research Association (HERA), 1986; Nilsson and Soderberg, 1982; Property Services Agency, 1979; Roofing, Cladding and Insulation, 1985, 1986; Stephenson, 1985; Tomasetti, 1973.
- 3. Bryan and Sloper, 1965; Errera and Apparao, 1976; Errera, Pincus and Fisher, 1967; Lawson and Nethercot, 1985; Nethercot and Trahair, 1975.
- 4. Baehre and Nyberg, 1974; Baehre and Thomasson, 1971; Bates, Bryan and El-Dakhakhni, 1965; Beck, 1973; Bryan, 1964, 1970, 1971a, 1971b, 1973a, 1973c, 1976; Bryan and Davies, 1972, 1975, 1976; Bryan and El-Dakhakhni, 1964b, 1968c; Bryan and Mohsin, 1972; CONSTRADO, 1973a; Constructional Steelwork, 1971; Davies, 1972,

1973, 1978b, 1978c; Davies and Bryan, 1982; El-Dakhakhni, 1963, 1965, 1973, 1976, 1977, 1978; El-Dakhakhni and Daniels, 1972, 1973; Fazio and Salahuddin, 1973; Fisher and Johnson, 1973; Freeman, 1974; Johnson, 1950; Koerner, 1971; Lamb, 1975; Lawrence, 1972; Miller, 1971, 1973; Miller and Sexsmith, 1972; Oppenheim, 1972, 1973; Seden, 1975; Sexsmith and Miller, 1971; Strnad, 1975, 1978; Strnad and Pirner, 1978; Tomasetti, Gutman, Lew and Joseph, 1986.

- 5. Refer to bibliography: historic and supplementary technical publications.
- 6. Refer to bibliography: current design documents overseas standards, codes of practice and design guides.
- 7. Baehre and Nyberg, 1974; Bryan, 1976; Bryan and Davies, 1981; CONSTRADO, 1973a; Davies and Bryan, 1982; European Convention for Constructional Steelwork (ECCS), 1977.
- 8. Refer to bibliography:
 - current design documents overseas standards, codes of practice and design guides;
 - 2. historic and supplementary technical publications:
 - diaphragms and applications in stabilising pin-jointed steel structures;
 - diaphragms and applications in stabilising timber structures.

- 9. Agriculture Canada, 1985; Canadian Plan Services, 1985; CSSBI, 1986a; Gebremedhin and Irish, 1986; Gebremedhin and Woeste, 1986; Hausman and Esmay, 1977; Hoagland and Bundy, 1983a, 1983b; Johnson and Curtis, 1984; Turnbull, 1964, 1983; Turnbull and Guertin, 1975; Turnbull, Thompson and Quaile, 1985.
- 10. American Iron and Steel Institute (A.I.S.I.), 1987; Beck, 1973; Bryan, 1973c, 1975d; Bryan and El-Dakhakhni, 1968a; Bryan and Jackson, 1968; CSSBI, 1972; Chockalingam, Ha and Fazio, 1978b, 1979; Davies, 1974, 1976, 1977, 1978; Davies and Bryan, 1982; Davies and Fisher, 1987; Davies and Lawson, 1975, 1978a, 1978b; Davies, Nemir and Taylor, 1986; Departments of the Army, the Navy and the Air Force, 1982; Easley, 1975, 1977; Easley and McFarland, 1969; Ellifritt and Luttrell, 1971; ECCS, 1977; Fazio, Ha and Chockalingam, 1979; Fisher, 1980; Ha, 1979; Ha, Chockalingam and Fazio, 1979; Ha, El-Hakim and Fazio, 1979a, 1979b; Huang and Luttrell, 1980; Luttrell, 1981; Nilson, 1960, 1973; Yates, 1986.
- 11. Atrek and Nilson, 1976, 1980; Davies, 1976; Eriksson, 1980; Ha, 1979; Lawrence and Sved, 1972; Nilson, 1973; Nilson and Ammar, 1974.
- 12. Refer to bibliography: historic and supplementary technical publications:
 - 1. diaphragms and applications in stabilising timber structures;
 - 2. fasteners for profiled sheet steel diaphragms associated with timber supporting members.

- 13. Boughton, 1982a; Canadian Plan Services, 1985; Hoagland and Bundy, 1983b; Johnson, 1982; Nash and Boughton, 1981; Turnbull, 1983; Gebremedhin, Bahler and Humphreys, 1987.
- 14. Bates, Bryan and El-Dakhakhni, 1965; Bryan, 1971a; Bryan and Davies, 1975; Bryan and El-Dakhakhni, 1964b; Bryan and Mohsin, 1972; Davies, 1973; Davies and Bryan, 1982; Davies, Nemir and Taylor, 1986; Lamb, 1975; Lawrence and Sved, 1972; Sved, Rehn and Lawrence, 1972.
- 15. Boughton, 1982b; Boughton and Reardon, 1982, 1983; Johnson and Curtis, 1984.
- 16. Chockalingam, Ha and Fazio, 1978b, 1979; Cloutier, 1982; Fazio, Ha and Chockalingam, 1977, 1979; Fazio and Salahuddin, 1973; Fisher, 1980; Ha, 1979; Ha, Chockalingam and Fazio, 1979; Ha, El-Hakim and Fazio, 1979a, 1979b; Tarlton, 1974; Yates, 1986.
- Bates, Bryan and El-Dakhakhni, 1965; Berry, 1976, 1977; Bolton, 1969; Bryan, 1964, 1970, 1971a, 1971b, 1973a, 1973b, 1973c, 1975a, 1975b, 1975c, 1975d, 1976, 1978; Bryan and Davies, 1972, 1975, 1976, 1978, 1981; Bryan and El-Dakhakhni, 1964a, 1964b, 1968a, 1968b, 1968c, 1969; Bryan and Jackson, 1968; Bryan and Mohsin, 1972; Davies, 1972, 1973, 1974, 1975, 1976, 1977, 1978a, 1978b, 1978c, 1980a, 1980b, 1986a, 1986b; Davies and Bryan, 1979, 1982; Davies and Fisher, 1987; Davies and Lawson, 1975, 1978a, 1978b; Davies, Nemir and Taylor, 1986; ECCS, 1977, 1978, 1984; El-

Dakhakhni, 1963; Fisher, 1981; Gokoglu, 1985; Grimshaw, 1979; Horne and Raslan, 1971a, 1971b; Jackson, 1965; Lapin, 1974; Lawson, 1975, 1976a, 1976b, 1976c; Nemir, 1985; Raslan, 1969; Seden, 1975.

18. A.I.S.I., 1987; Bogaard, 1986; Cloutier, 1982; Davies, 1986a, 1986b; Davies and Bryan, 1982; Davies and Fisher, 1987; Davies, Nemir and Taylor, 1986; Departments of the Army, the Navy and the Air Force, 1982; Huang and Luttrell, 1980; Luttrell, 1981; Swedish Institute of Steel Construction, 1982; Yates, 1986.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

This bibliography has been prepared to perform two main functions. The first is to provide the practising engineer with a list of up-to-date documents related to the use of diaphragm action in design involving profiled sheet steel. Secondly, since the design practice of this type of diaphragm is well developed overseas, it is desirable to include background and supplementary information for use by engineers and research workers.

In line with these two purposes, the bibliography has been divided into three main sections: (1) current design documents overseas; (2) historic and supplementary technical publications; and (3) miscellaneous publications. The first section includes current publications overseas which are considered to apply directly to the design of profiled sheet steel diaphragms. The publications in the second section should prove useful to the engineer in understanding the background of the subject and to the research worker in furthering the state-of-the-art. For easy reference, the lists on work associated with steel and timber structures have been separated. The miscellaneous publications are those of a less technical nature and also on subjects of related interest.

Notes

The bibliography is concerned specifically with profiled sheet steel applications in conventional low-rise steel and timber structures and does not include the literature on light gauge steel applications in folded plate structures, hyperbolic paraboloids and cylindrical shells; nor does it include those on diaphragms of aluminium, wood and other materials.

References marked with an asterisk are identified as the more relevant documents in relation to local applications. These are held by BRANZ and will be of use to designers and research workers in this field.

Some papers appear in more than one of the categories.

Current Design Documents Overseas - Standards, Codes of Practice and Design Guides

- * American Iron and Steel Institute. 1987. Design of cold-formed steel diaphragms. Washington, D.C..
- * Bryan, E.R. and Davies, J.M. 1981. Steel diaphragm roof decks, a design guide with tables for engineers and architects. Granada. London.
- * Canadian Plan Services. 1985. Steel roof diaphragm wind bracing with stud walls. C.P.S. Plan M-9310.

- Canadian Sheet Steel Building Institute. 1972. Diaphragm action of cellular steel floor and roof deck construction. CSSBI 18.8-72.
 Ontario.
- * Davies, J.M. and Bryan, E.R. 1982. Manual of stressed skin diaphragm design. Granada Publishing. Great Britain.
- * Departments of the Army, the Navy, and the Air Force. 1982. Steel deck diaphragms. <u>In</u> Technical Manual: Seismic Design of Buildings, Army TM 5-809-10, Navy NAVFAC P-355, Air Force AFM 88-3, Chapter 13. United States of America.
- * European Convention for Constructional Steelwork. 1977. European recommendations for the stressed skin design of steel structures.
 ECCS Publication No. XVII-77-1E, No. 19. CONSTRADO. Croydon. (Reprinted 1982).
- * Luttrell, L.D. 1981. Steel Deck Institute diaphragm design manual. Steel Deck Institute. St. Louis, Missouri.
- * Swedish Institute of Steel Construction. 1982. Swedish code for light gauge metal structures. Publication 76. Stockholm.

TNO. 1979. Richtlijen voor de toepassing van geprofileerde stalen platten als schijfkonstruktie - R.S.P.S. 1979. (Dutch Standard for stressed skin design).

Historic and Supplementary Technical Publications

Diaphragms and Applications in Stabilising Pin-Jointed Steel Structures

American Iron and Steel Institute. 1967. Design of light gauge steel diaphragms. New York.

Ammar, A.R. and Nilson, A.H. 1972. Analysis of light gauge steel shear diaphragms, part I. Cornell University, Department of Structural Engineering, Research Report No. 350. Ithaca, New York.

_____ 1973. Analysis of light gauge steel shear diaphragms, part II. Cornell University, Department of Structural Engineering, Research Report No. 351. Ithaca, New York.

Apparao, T.V.S.R. 1966. Tests on light gauge steel diaphragms. Cornell University, Department of Structural Engineering, Report No. 328. Ithaca, New York.

- * Atrek, E. and Nilson, A.H. 1976. Non-linear finite element analysis of light gauge steel shear diaphragms. Cornell University, Department of Structural Engineering, Report No. 363. Ithaca, New York.
- * 1980. Non-linear analysis of cold-formed steel shear diaphragms. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 106(ST3): 693-710.
- * 1981. Closure of Atrek and Nilson (1980). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 107(ST7): 1376-1377.

- Baehre, R. 1975. Sheet metal panels for use in building * construction, current research projects in Sweden. <u>In</u> Proceedings Third International Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, November 1975, Missouri: 383-455. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.
- * 1975. Sheet metal panels for use in building construction - current research projects in Sweden. Swedish Council for Building Research, Report R61:1975. Stockholm. (in Swedish).
- 1975. The membrane action of corrugated sheeting of trapezoidal cross section: design-construction-testing. Swedish Council of Building Research, Bulletin B1:1975. Stockholm.

Baehre, R. and Konig, J. 1975. Provning av skivverkan med trapetsprofilerad plät. Plannja TRP 110. Kungliga Tekniska Hogskolan, Stockholm. (in Swedish).

- 1975. Skivverkan av trapetsprofilerad plät (in Swedish title translates to "Membrane action of corrugated steel sheets"). Svensk Byggtjanst, Stockholm.
- Baehre, R. and Nyberg, G. 1974. Stabilisation of buildings by * structural cladding of corrugated sheeting - review of literature. Swedish Building Research Station, Report R4:1974. Svensk Byggtjanst, Stockholm. (in Swedish with English summaries).
- Baehre, R. and Thomasson, P.O. 1971. Sheet metal panels in * building construction, function and load-bearing capacity of stiffened plates. National Swedish Building Research, Report

R10:1971. Stockholm. (in Swedish with English summaries).

- Beck, V.R. 1973. Stressed skin design of steel cladding. * In Proceedings Australia Institute of Steel Construction Conference on Steel Developments, May 1973: 37-44. University of Newcastle. New South Wales.
- 1974. Proposed stressed skin design rules and commentary. * BHP Melbourne Research Laboratory Report MRL 38/5. Clayton, Victoria.
- 1974. Fatigue and static loading of shear panels. BHP Melbourne * Research Laboratory Report MRL 38/6. Clayton, Victoria.
- Bogaard, A. 1986. Distortion and warping of profiled sheeting in * shear. In Proceedings Thin-Walled Metal Structures in Buildings, May 1986, Stockholm: 231-238. IABSE Report - Volume 49. Stockholm.

British Standards Institution. 1978. The structural use of steelwork in building, part I, chapter 13 - stressed skin construction. London. (Draft for comment).

- Brodka, D., Garncarek, R. and Grudka, A. 1986. Basis of new Polish * recommendations for stressed skin design. <u>In</u> Proceedings Thin-Walled Metal Structures in Buildings, May 1986, Stockholm: 231-238. IABSE Report - Volume 49. Stockholm.
- Bryan, E.R. 1973. Structural behaviour of cladding systems. In * Sheet Steel in Building: Proceedings Symposium Iron and Steel Institute and Royal Institute of British Architects, March 1973, London: 19-23. Iron and Steel Institute. London.

- *_____1973. Stressed skin roof decks for SEAC and CLASP building systems. CONSTRADO. Croydon.
- *_____1973. The stressed skin design of steel buildings. CONSTRADO Monographs. Crosby Lockwood Staples.
- *_____ 1975. Metal roof deck diaphragms in buildings. Architects' Journal, 19 February 1975: 417-420.
- _____ 1975. Wand-dach-und deckenscheiben im stahlochbau. Der Bauingenieur, 50(September). (in German).
- <u>—</u> 1975. Diaphragm action in metal roof decks. <u>In</u> Proceedings Conference of International Waterproofing Association, September 1975, Zurich.
- *_____ 1975. Calculation of sheet steel diaphragms in the U.K.. <u>In</u> Proceedings Third International Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, November 1975, Missouri: 491-533. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.
- * 1976. Stressed skin design and construction: a state of art report. The Structural Engineer 54(9): 347-351.
- * 1978. Stressed skin design. Symposium on new draft standard for 'The structural use of steelwork in building', April 1978. Institution of Structural Engineers. London.
- * Bryan, E.R. and Davies, J.M. 1975. Stressed skin construction in the U.K.. <u>In</u> Proceedings Third International Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, November 1975, Missouri: 569-598. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.

- _____ 1978. Design code and tables for diaphragm action in light gauge steel roof decks. Metal Roof Deck Association. London. (Draft).
- * Bryan, E.R. and El-Dakhakhni, W.M. 1964. Shear of thin plates with flexible edge members. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 90(ST4): 1-14.
- * _____ 1964. Behaviour of sheeted portal frame sheds: theory and experiments. Proceedings Institution of Civil Engineers 29(Dec.): 743-776.
- * 1968. Shear flexibility and strength of corrugated decks. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 94(ST11): 2549-2580.
- *_____ 1968. Shear of corrugated decks: calculated and observed behaviour. Proceedings Institution of Civil Engineers 41(Nov.): 523-540.
- *_____ 1969. Shear tests on light gauge steel decks. Acier-Stahl-Steel 10/1969: 435-442.
- * Bryan, E.R. and Jackson, P. 1968. The shear behaviour of corrugated steel sheeting. <u>In</u> Proceedings of Symposium on Thin-Walled Steel Structures, September 1967, University of Swansea: 258-274. Crosby Lockwood.

- Chern, C. and Jorgenson, J.L. 1973. Shear strength of deep * corrugated steel panels. <u>In</u> Proceedings Second Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, October 1973, Missouri: 381-415. University of Missouri. Rolla, Missouri.
- Chockalingam, S., Ha, H.K. and Fazio, P. 1978. Discussion of * Easley (1977). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 104(ST1): 226-228.
- 1978. Strength of cold formed steel shear diaphragms. * In Proceedings Fourth International Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, June 1978, Missouri: 673-699. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.
- * 1979. Simplified analysis of cold-formed steel shear diaphragms. Canadian Journal of Civil Engineering 6: 232-242.

Cloutier, B. 1982. The design of steel roof decks acting as diaphragms. McGill University, Department of Civil Engineering and Applied Mechanics, Structural Engineering Series 82-2. Montreal.

- Constructional Steel Research and Development Organisation. 1973. * Stressed skin construction - principles and practice. Publication 3/73. CONSTRADO. Croydon.
- 1977. Light gauge steel roofs: an informal conference to be held by * the Royal Institute of British Architects, 2 June 1977, notes to sessions. CONSTRADO. Croydon.

1977. Conference on light gauge steel roofs: summary of proceedings. Royal Institute of British Architects and CONSTRADO, 2 June 1977, University of Salford. CONSTRADO. Croydon.

Crisinel, M. 1975. Effet de contreventment des tôles minces de planchers, toitures, facades. Schweizerische Zentralstelle fur Stahlbau. Zurich. (in French and German).

C.T.I.C.M. 1978. Exemple de calcul d'une structure compte tenu de la collaboration des parois. Construction Metallique, 2. (in French).

Davies, J.M. 1974. The design of shear diaphragms of corrugated steel sheeting. University of Salford, Department of Civil Engineering, Report No. 74/50. Salford.

- 1975. A bibliography on the stressed skin action of light gauge steel cladding. University of Salford, Department of Civil Engineering, Report No. 75/63. Salford.
- * 1976. Calculation of steel diaphragm behaviour. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 102(ST7): 1411-1430.
- 1977. Simplified diaphragm analysis. Journal of the Structural * Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 103(ST11): 2093-2109.
- *_____1978. Concentrated loads on light gauge steel diaphragms. Journal of Structural Mechanics 6(2): 165-194.

- *_____ 1980. Discussion of Ha (1979). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 106(ST1): 367-369.
- *_____1980. Discussion of Atrek and Nilson (1980). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 106(ST12): 2578-2579.
- *_____1986. A general solution for the shear flexibility of profiled sheets, I, development and verification of the method. International Journal on Thin-Walled Structures 4: 41-68.
- *_____1986. A general solution for the shear flexibility of profiled sheets, II, applications of the method. International Journal on Thin-Walled Structures 4: 151-161.
- Davies, J.M. and Bryan, E.R. 1979. Design tables for light gauge steel diaphragms. <u>In</u> Proceedings International Conference on Thin-Walled Structures, April 1979, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow: 605-619. Granada, London.
- Davies, J.M. and Fisher, J. 1987. End failures in stressed skin diaphragms. Proceedings Institution of Civil Engineers, Part 2, 83(March): 275-293.
- * Davies, J.M. and Lawson, R.M. 1975. The shear flexibility of corrugated steel sheeting. <u>In</u> Proceedings Third International Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, November 1975, Missouri: 535-568. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.

- *_____ 1978. Light gauge steel diaphragms with openings. International Association of Bridge and Structural Engineering Proceedings: P-16-78.
- *_____1978. The shear deformation of profiled metal sheeting. International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering 12(10): 1507-1541.
- * Davies, J.M., Nemir, M.T.M. and Taylor, K. 1986. Full scale tests and analysis of two light gauge steel pyramid roof. <u>In</u> Proceedings Thin-Walled Metal Structures in Buildings, May 1986, Stockholm: 215-222. IABSE Report - Volume 49. Stockholm.
- Dubas, P. 1972. Interaction of structural elements with cladding. <u>In</u> Lehigh University, Tall Building Conference, August 1972: Stateof-Art Report No. 5. Bethlehem, Pa..

Easley, J.T. 1967. Tests on light-gage steel shear diaphragms. University of Kansas, Report No. CRES Project 85. Lawrence, Kansas.

- _____ 1967. Tests of light-gage steel shear diaphragms. University of Kansas, Report No. CRES Project 85 Part 2. Lawrence, Kansas.
- *_____1975. Buckling formulas for corrugated metal shear diaphragms. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 101(ST7): 1403-1417.

- *_____ 1976. Closure of Easley (1975). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 102(ST12): 2374.
- * <u>1977.</u> Strength and stiffness of corrugated metal shear diaphragms. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 103(ST1): 169-180.
- *_____ 1978. Closure of Easley (1977). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 104(ST10): 1674.
- * Easley, J.T. and Chockalingam, S. 1980. Discussion of Ha, El-Hakim and Fazio (1979a). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 106(ST7): 1660-1663.
- * Easley, J.T. and McFarland, D.E. 1969. Buckling of light gauge corrugated metal shear diaphragms. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 95(ST7): 1497-1516.
- * Eggenberger, B. 1963. Design of sheet steel deck diaphragms.

Eggert, H. and Kanning, W. 1979. Feinbleche aus stahl fur ebene dacher. Bauingenieur, 54. (in German).

El-Dakhakhni, W.M. 1963. The effect of membranes in stiffening pitched roof portal frame sheds. University of Manchester, Ph.D. thesis. Manchester.

Ellifritt, D.S. and Luttrell, L.D. 1970. Strength and stiffness of steel deck subjected to in-plane loadings. West Virginia University, Department of Civil Engineering, Civil Engineering Studies Report No. 2011. Morgantown, West Virginia.

- *_____ 1971. Strength and stiffness of steel deck shear diaphragms. <u>In</u> Proceedings First Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, August 1971, Missouri: 99-110. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.
- * English, J.M. 1961. Discussion of Nilson (1960). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 87(ST7): 247-260.

Eriksson, A. 1980. The finite element method for sheet metal structures, development of a computer program. Swedish Council for Building Research, Document D31:1980. Stockholm.

* Errera, S.J. and Apparao, T.V.S.R. 1976. Design of I-shaped beams with diaphragm bracing. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 102(ST4): 769-781.

European Convention for Constructional Steelwork and Constructional Steel Research and Development Organisation. 1976. Stressed skin design. CONSTRADO. Croydon.

Falkenberg, J.C. 1968. Tests and analysis of diaphragm stiffness of corrugated roof panels used as wind bracing elements. Research Report to Robertson-Nordiak A/S. Norwegian Building Institute. (in Norwegian).

- * 1969. Discussion of Bryan and El-Dakhakhni (1968a). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 95(ST6): 1382-1386.
- * Fazio, P.P., Ha, H.K. and Chockalingam, S. 1976. Discussion of Easley (1975). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 102(ST3): 684-685.
- _____ 1977. Strength of light gauge steel corrugated diaphragms. Concordia University, Centre for Building Studies, Report No. CBS 30. Montreal.
- *_____ 1979. Strength of cold-formed steel shear diaphragms. Canadian Journal of Civil Engineering 6(1): 5-17.

Fazio, P. and Salahuddin, A. 1973. Investigation of the stiffening effect of cladding in structural frameworks. Sir George Williams University, Department of Civil Engineering. Montreal.

Fischer, M. 1976. On the behaviour under load and use of trapezoidally profiled thin sheet metal diaphragms. Deutscher Stahlbautag. Stuttgart. (in German).

Fisher, J. 1981. Steel and concrete composite diaphragms. University of Salford, Ph.D. thesis. Salford.

* Fisher, J.M. 1980. Strength and stiffness of light gauge steel diaphragms. Paper presented at the Seminar on Cold-Formed Steel for Practising Engineers and Architects, April 1980, University of

Windsor: 83-122. Ontario.

Fisher, J.M. and Johnson, D.L. 1973. Behaviour of light gage diaphragms coupled with X-bracing. <u>In</u> Proceedings Second Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, October 1973, Missouri: 417-435. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.

Gokoglu, M. 1985. End failures in stressed skin diaphragm action. University of Salford, M.Sc. thesis. Salford.

- * Ha, H.K. 1979. Corrugated shear diaphragms. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Sciety of Civil Engineers 105(ST3): 577-587.
- * 1980. Closure of Ha (1979). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 106(ST11): 2353.
- * Ha, H.K., Chockalingam, S. and Fazio, P. 1979. Further study on the strength of cold-formed shear diaphragms. <u>In</u> Proceedings International Conference on Thin-Walled Structures, April 1979, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow: 642-657. Granada, London.
- * Ha, H.K., El-Hakim, N. and Fazio, P. 1979. Simplified design of corrugated shear diaphragms. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 105(ST7): 1365-1377.

- * <u>1979.</u> Refined calculations for the strength and stiffness of coldformed steel diaphragms. Canadian Journal of Civil Engineering 6: 268-275.
- *_____ 1981. Closure of Ha, El-Hakim and Fazio (1979). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 107(ST2): 443-444.

Hlavacek, V. 1965. Stability of orthotropic panels subject to shear. University of Prague, Building Research Institute of Technology, Research Report. Prague. (in Czech).

- _____ 1967. Critical shear stresses in markedly orthotropic webs. Acta Polytechnica, 7(1). Prague.
- _____ 1968. Shear instability of orthotropic panels. Acta Technica, Csav 13(1): 134-158. Prague.
- * <u>1970.</u> Discussion of Easley and McFarland (1969). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 96(ST3): 740-743.
- * <u>1972.</u> The effect of support conditions on the stiffness of corrugated sheets subjected to shear. Acta Technica, Csav 17(2): 209-236. Prague.
- _____ 1972. Flexibility of corrugated sheets in shear. Stavebnicky Casopis SAV XIX (3-4). Bratislava.
- * Hoglund, T. 1980. Design of trapezoidal sheeting provided with stiffeners in the flanges and webs. The Swedish Council for Building Research, Document D28:1980. Stockholm.

- * Horne, M.R. and Raslan, R.A.S. 1971. An energy solution to the shear deformation of corrugated plates. International Association of Bridge and Structural Engineering Publications 31-I: 51-72.
- * <u>1971.</u> A finite difference approach to corrugated shear panels. International Association of Bridge and Structural Engineering Publications 31-I: 73-92.

Hsiao, C. and Libove C. 1971. Theoretical study of corrugated plates: shear stiffness of a trapezoidally corrugated plate with discrete attachments to a rigid flange at the ends of the corrugations. Syracuse University, Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Report No. MAE 1833-T3. Syracuse. (Re-issued as NASA CR-1966, Feb. 1972).

Huang, H.T. 1979. Theoretical and physical approach to light gauge steel shear diaphragms. West Virginia University, Ph.D. thesis. West Virginia.

* Huang, H.T. and Luttrell, L.D. 1980. Theoretical and physical evaluations of steel shear diaphragms. <u>In</u> Proceedings Fifth International Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, November 1980, Missouri: 301-329. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri. Hussain, M.I. and Libove, C. 1974. Stress and stiffness data for discretely attached corrugated shear webs with trapezoidal corrugation. Syracuse University, Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Report No. MAE 5170-T3. Syracuse.

* <u>1976</u>. Trapezoidally corrugated plates in shear. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 103(ST5): 1109-1131.

Jackson, P. 1965. The shear behaviour of corrugated sheeting. University of Manchester, M.Sc. thesis. Manchester.

Johns, D.J. 1970. Shear buckling of isotropic and orthotropic plates, a review. Loughborough University of Technology, Department of Transport Technology. Loughborough.

Johnson, C.B. 1950. Light gage steel diaphragms in building construction. American Society of Civil Engineers Meeting, February 1950, Los Angeles, California.

Lapin, D. 1974. Behaviour of insulated metal decking under shear load. University of Salford, M.Sc. thesis. Salford.

Lawson, R.M. 1975. The flexibility of practical shear diaphragms. University of Salford, Department of Civil Engineering, Report No. 75/69. Salford.

* <u>1976</u>. Discussion of Easley (1975). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 102(ST5): 1168-1170.

______1976. The flexibility and strength of corrugated diaphragms and folded plates. University of Salford, Ph.D. thesis. Salford.

Libove, C. 1972. Survey of recent work on the analysis of discretely attached corrugated shear webs. <u>In</u> Proceedings A.I.A.A., A.S.M.E. and S.A.E. Thirteenth Structures, Structural Dynamics and Materials Conference, April 1972, San Antonio, Texas.

- *_____ 1973. On the stiffness, stresses and buckling analysis of corrugated shear webs. <u>In</u> Proceedings Second Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, October 1973, Missouri: 259-301. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.
- 1975. Asymptotic behaviour of discretely attached corrugated shear webs. Syracuse University, Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Report No. MAE 5170-T4. Syracuse.
- * <u>1977.</u> Buckling of corrugated plates in shear. <u>In</u> Proceedings International Colloquium on Stability of Structures under Static and Dynamic Loads, May 1977, Washington: 435-462.

Lin, C. and Libove, C. 1970. Theoretical study of corrugated plates: shearing of a trapezoidally corrugated plate with trough lines held straight. Syracuse University, Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Report No. MAE 1833-T1. Syracuse. (Re-issued as NASA CR-1749, Aug. 1971). 1970. Theoretical study of corrugated plates: shearing of a trapezoidally corrugated plate with trough lines permitted to curve. Syracuse University, Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Report No. MAE 1833-T2. Syracuse. (Re-issued as NASA CR-1750, Dec. 1971).

Luttrell, L.D. 1965. Light gage steel shear diaphragms. West Virgina University, Civil Engineering Department Publication. West Virgina.

- 1967. Strength and behaviour of light gauge steel shear diaphragms. Cornell University, Department of Structural Engineering, Engineering Research Bulletin No. 67-1. Ithaca, New York.
- * <u>1973.</u> Screw connected shear diaphragms. <u>In</u> Proceedings Second Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, October 1973, Missouri: 365-380. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.

Luttrell, L.D. and Winter, G. 1965. Structural performance of light gauge steel diaphragms. Cornell University, Department of Structural Engineering, Report No. 319. Ithaca, New York.

- * Marsh, C. 1976. Discussion of Easley (1975). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 102(ST1): 304-305.
- * McCreless, C.S. and Tarpy, T.S. 1978. Experimental investigation of steel stud shear wall diaphragms. <u>In</u> Proceedings Fourth International Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, June 1978, Missouri: 647-672. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.

- * McKenzie, K.I. 1963. The shear stiffness of a corrugated web. Ministry of Aviation, Aeronautical Research Council, Reports and Memoranda No. 3342. H.M.S.O.
- * Metal Roof Deck Association. 1970. Code of design and technical requirements for light gauge metal roof decks. Sussex. (Reprinted April 1979).
- * Moss, P.J. and Aitken, G.H. 1981. In-plane stiffness and strength of corrugated metal diaphragm. University of Canterbury, Department of Civil Engineering, Research Report 81/PJM. Christchurch.

Nemir, M.T.M. 1985. Finite element stability analysis of thin-walled steel structures. University of Salford, Ph.D. thesis. Salford.

* Nethercot, D.A. and Trahair, N.S. 1975. Design of diaphragm braced by I-beams. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 101(ST10): 2045-2061.

Nilson, A.H. 1956. Deflection of light gage steel floor systems under the action of horizontal loads. Cornell University, M.Sc. thesis. Ithaca, New York.

____ 1957. Report on tests of light gage steel floor diaphragms - 1957 series. Cornell University, Department of Structural Engineering Research Report. Ithaca, New York.

- *_____1960. Shear diaphragms of light gage steel. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 86(ST11): 111-139.
- * <u>1969</u>. Discussion of Easley and McFarland (1969). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 95(ST12): 3004-3006.
- * <u>1973.</u> Analysis of light gage steel shear diaphragms. <u>In</u> Proceedings Second Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, October 1973, Missouri: 325-363. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.
- * Nilson, A.H. and Ammar, A.R. 1974. Finite element analysis of metal deck shear diaphragms. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 100(ST4): 711-726.

Nyberg, G. 1976. Diaphragm action of assembled C-shaped panels. Swedish Council for Building Research, Document D9:1976. Stockholm.

Raslan, R.A.S. 1969. The structural behaviour of corrugated plates. University of Manchester, Ph.D. thesis. Manchester.

Rothwell, A. 1968. The shear stiffness of flat-sided corrugated webs. Aeronautical Quarterly 19: 224-234.

Schardt, R. 1976. Scheibenwirkung von dachern und decken aus stahl oder aluminium trapezblechen. Forschungsvorhaben des Instituts fur Bautechnik, Teil 4. Berlin. (in German).

Schardt, R. and Strehl, C. 1976. Theoretisch Grundlagen fur die bestimmung der schubsteifigkeit von trapezblech scheiben -vergleich mit anderen berechnungsansatzen und versuchsergebnissen. Der Stahlbau, April/1976. (in German).

Schutze. 1976. Ein satz von ekotal - trapezprofilblechen als dach und wendelemente. Serie Bauaufsight, 101. Bauinformation 12/1976. D.D.R. (in German).

Seden, M.R. 1975. The stiffening effect of light cladding on steel structures. University of Salford, Ph.D. thesis. Salford.

Sexsmith, R.G. 1975. Behaviour of a light gauge steel diaphragm. Cornell University, Department of Structural Engineering, Report of project 169. Ithaca, New York.

Smith, G.E. 1957. Elastic buckling in shear of infinitely long corrugated plates with clamped parallel edges. Cornell University, School of Aeronautical Engineering, M.S. thesis. Ithaca, New York.

Standards Association of Australia. 1974. Draft Australian standard rules for the use of steel in structures, appendix f : stressed skin design. DR 74082. Sydney.

Steel Deck Institute. 1972. Tentative recommendations for the design of steel deck diaphragms. Illinois.

Steinhardt, O. and Einsfield, U. 1970. Trapezblechscheiben im stahlhochbau - wirkungsweise und berechnung (in German - title translates to "Design of sheeting panels of trapezoidal cross-section for steel structures"). Bautechnik.

Strehl, C. 1975. Berechnung regel massig periodisch aufgebauter faltwerksquerschnitte unter schubbelastung am beispiel des trapezbleches. Darmstadt University, thesis. (in German).

Swedish Institute of Steel Construction. 1975. Diaphragm Action. In Tunnplatskonstruktioner, chapter 5. Stockholm. (in Swedish).

Tarlton, D.L. 1974. Design in cold-formed steel: diaphragm action. Solid Mechanics Division, University of Waterloo Press. Waterloo, Ontario.

Wu, L.H. and Libove, C. 1972. Theoretical study of corrugated plates: shearing of a corrugated plate with curvilinear corrugations. Syracuse University, Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Report No. MAE 1833-T4. Syracuse. (Re-issued as NASA CR-2080, June 1972).

- 1974. Theoretical stress and stiffness data for discretely attached corrugated shear webs with trapezoidal corrugations. Syracuse University, Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Report No. MAE 5170-T2. Syracuse.
- 1975. Stiffness and stress analysis of discretely attached corrugated shear webs with quasi-sinusoidal corrugations. Syracuse University, Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Report No. MAE 5170-T5. Syracuse.

Yates, D.M. 1986. Design of cold formed steel roof deck diaphragms. University of Waterloo, Department of Civil Engineering, Research Report. Ontario.

Yu, W.W. 1965. Design of light gauge cold-formed steel structures. West Virginia University, Engineering Experiment Station. West Virginia.

1973. Cold-Formed Steel Structures: Design, Analysis, Construction. * McGraw-Hill. New York.

Interaction of Profiled Sheet Steel Claddings and Rigid-Jointed Steel Frames

Bates, W., Bryan, E.R. and El-Dakhakhni, W.M. 1965. Full scale * tests on a portal frame shed. The Structural Engineer 43(6): 199-208.

Bolton, M.D. 1969. An assessment of the effect of cladding on the overall stability of framed structures. University of Manchester, M.Sc. thesis. Manchester.

The stiffening effect of sheeting in buildings. Bryan, E.R. 1964. International Association of Bridge and Structural Engineering Seventh Congress, Preliminary Publication. Rio de Janeiro.

1970. Cladding stiffens buildings. Building with Steel, 4(Aug.).

1971. Research into the structural behaviour of a sheeted building. * Proceedings Institution of Civil Engineers 48(Jan.): 65-84.

- _____ 1971. The design of stressed skin steel buildings. Civil Engineering and Public Works Review, October/1971.
- *_____ 1973. Structural behaviour of cladding systems. <u>In</u> Sheet Steel in Building: Proceedings Symposium Iron and Steel Institute and Royal Institute of British Architects, March 1973, London: 19-23. Iron and Steel Institute. London.
- *_____1973. The stressed skin design of steel buildings. CONSTRADO Monograph. Crosby Lockwood Staples.
- *_____1976. Stressed skin design and construction : a state of art report. The Structural Engineer 54(9): 347-351.
- * Bryan, E.R. and Davies, J.M. 1972. Stiffening effect of light cladding. <u>In</u> Proceedings American Society of Civil Engineers and International Association of Bridge and Structural Engineering International Conference on Tall Buildings, August 1972, Technical Committee 17, State of Art Report 3A. (Preprints Volume II-17).
- *_____ 1975. Stressed skin construction in the U.K.. <u>In</u> Proceedings Third Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, November 1975, Missouri: 569-598. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.
- _____ 1976. Diaphragm action in multi-storey buildings. University of Salford, Department of Civil Engineering, Report No. 75/70. Salford.
- * Bryan, E.R. and El-Dakhakhni, W.M. 1964. Behaviour of sheeted

portal frame sheds: theory and experiments. Proceedings Institution of Civil Engineers 29(Dec.): 743-777. London.

- _____ 1968. The design and analysis of buildings with light cladding. International Association of Bridge and Structural Engineering Publication 28(II). Zurich.
- * Bryan, E.R. and Mohsin, M.E. 1972. The design and testing of a steel building taking account of the sheeting. International Association of Bridge and Structural Engineering Ninth Congress, May 1972, Preliminary Report: 305-314. Amsterdam.

Building with Steel. 1971. Tests at Salford. 8(Nov.).

Construction Metallique. 1978. Example de calcul d'une structure compte tenu de la collaboration des parois (in French - title translates to "An example of stressed skin design"). 2.

 Constructional Steel Research and Development Association. 1973.
 Stressed skin construction - principles and practice. CONSTRADO Publication 3/73. Croydon.

Constructional Steelwork. 1971. Research on the stiffening effect of sheeting on steel-framed buildings. June/1971.

* Davies, J.M. 1972. Computer analysis of stressed skin buildings. Civil Engineering and Public Works Review 67(Nov.): 1154-1157.

- * <u>1973.</u> The plastic collapse of framed structures clad with corrugated steel sheeting. Proceedings Institution of Civil Engineers 55(Mar.): 23-42.
- <u>1978</u>. Diaphragm action in multi-storey buildings. <u>In</u> Proceedings Second International European Convention for Constructional Steelwork Symposium, April 1978. London.
- 1978. The design of multi-storey buildings stiffened by diaphragm action. University of Salford, Department of Civil Engineering, Report No. 77/95(2). Salford. (A state of the art report prepared for ECCS Committee 11).

El-Dakhakhni, W.M. 1963. The effect of membranes in stiffening pitched roof portal frame sheds. University of Manchester, Ph.D. thesis. Manchester.

- 1965. Stiffening effect of roof slabs on pitched roof and polygonal sheds. Journal of Egyptian Society of Civil Engineers. Annual volume. Cairo.
- _____ 1973. Effect of light gauge partitions on multi-storey buildings. Egyptian Society of Civil Engineers. Cairo.
- *_____ 1976. Shear of light-gage partitions in tall buildings. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 102(ST7): 1431-1445.
- *_____1977. Effect of light-gage partitions on multistorey buildings. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American

Society of Civil Engineers 103(ST1): 119-132.

*_____ 1978. Closure of El-Dakhakhni (1977). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 104(ST1): 225.

El-Dakhakhni, W.M. and Daniels, J.H. 1972. Integrated structural behaviour of buildings. American Society of Civil Engineers National Structural Engineering Meeting, April 1972, Preprint No. 1669. Cleveland.

- _____ 1973. Frame-floor-wall system interaction in buildings. Lehigh University, Fritz. Engineering Laboratory Report No. 376.2.
- * European Convention for Constructional Steelwork. 1977. European recommendations for the stressed skin design of steel structures.
 ECCS Publication No. XVII-77-1E, No. 19. CONSTRADO. Croydon. (Reprinted 1982).

Freeman, D.J. 1974. The structual action of light cladding. University of Melbourne, M.E. thesis. Melbourne.

Godfrey, D.A. and Bryan, E.R. 1959. The calculated and observed effects of dead loads and dynamic crane loads on the framework of a workshops building. Proceedings Institution of Civil Engineers 13: 197-214.

* Ha, H.K., Fazio, P. and Chockalingam, S. 1977. Discussion of El-Dakhakhni (1977). Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 103(ST8): 1701-1702.

- Heyman, J., Bryan, E.R., Majid, K.I., Horne, M.R., Hill, H.V. and Shaw, A. 1973. Discussion of Davies (1973). Proceedings Institution of Civil Engineers, Part 2, 55(Sept.): 719-733.
- * Hoglund, T. 1980. Stabilisering av hallbyggnader genom samverkan mellan skjuvvek takskiva och ramar. Swedish Institute of Steel Construction, Publication 71. Stockholm.
- * Horne, M.R., Heyman, J., Godfrey, D.A., Little, D.H., Hill, H.V., Koerner, J.R., Henzell, J.S. and Baxter, J.W. 1966. Discussion of Bryan and El-Dakhakhni (1964b). Proceedings Institution of Civil Engineers 34: 231-243.

Koerner, R.J. 1971. The interaction between rigidly jointed frames and light cladding. University of Melbourne, M.E. thesis. Melbourne.

* Lamb, A.R. 1975. The design and testing of a stressed skin structure for a range of nursery school buildings (United Kingdom). Acier-Stahl-Steel 11/1975: 368-372.

Lawrence, S.J. 1972. Stiffening effect of cladding on light-weight structures. University of Melbourne, M.E. thesis. Melbourne.

* Lawrence, S.J. and Sved, G. 1972. A finite element analysis of clad structures. <u>In</u> Proceedings Conference on Metal Structures Research and Its Applications, November 1972: 82-88. The Institution of Engineers, Australia.

Miller, C.J. 1971. Interaction of diaphragms and multi-storey building frames. Cornell University, Second Progress Report. Ithaca, New York.

- * 1973. Drift control with light gauge steel infill panels. <u>In</u> Proceedings Second Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, October 1973, Missouri: 437-466. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.
- * Miller, C.J. and Serag, A.E. 1978. Dynamic response of infilled multi-storey steel frames. <u>In</u> Proceedings Fourth International Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, June 1978, Missouri: 557-586. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.

Miller, C.J. and Sexsmith, R.G. 1972. Analysis of multi-storey frames with light gauge steel panel infills. Cornell University, Department of Structural Engineering, Research Report No. 349. Ithaca, New York.

Oppenheim, I.J. 1972. The effect of cladding on tall buildings. Cambridge University, Ph.D. thesis. Cambridge.

- *_____1973. Control of lateral deflections in planar frames using structural partitions. Proceedings Institution of Civil Engineers, Part 2, 55(June): 435-445.
- *_____ 1973. Dynamic behaviour of tall buildings with cladding. <u>In</u> Proceedings Fifth World Conference on Earthquake Engineering, Rome: 2769-2773.

Rubin, H. 1972. The design of composite building structures as discontinuous systems. Karlsruhe University, thesis. (in German).

1975. The stiffening effect of light cladding on steel Seden, M.R. structures. University of Salford, Ph.D. thesis. Salford.

Sexsmith, R.G. and Miller, C.J. 1971. Interaction of diaphragms and multi-storey building frames. Cornell University, First Progress Report. Ithaca, New York.

Strnad, M. 1975. Spolopusobeni pláštu u lehkých ocelovýchhal (in Czech - title translates to "Interaction of the sheeting and portal frames in light steel halls"). Praha, Stavebni informacni streddisko.

- 1978. Zasady navrhovani lehkých ocelových pro hal se spolupnsobicimi plasti (in Czech - title translates to "Basic rules for light steel hall design with interaction between the frame and the cladding"). Technicky Zpravodaj ocelove konstukie, 1(78).
- Strnad, M. and Pirner, M. 1978. Static and dynamic full scale * tests on a portal frame structure. The Structural Engineer 56B(3): 45-52.
- Sved, G., Rehn, M. and Lawrence, S. 1972. Curved box beams and * corrugated clad sheds, model tests and comparisons with analysis. In Proceedings Structural Models Conference, Sydney: 1-10.
- Tomasetti, R.L., Gutman, A., Lew, I.P. and Joseph, L.M. * 1986. Development of thin wall cladding to reduce drift in hi-rise buildings. <u>In</u> Proceedings Thin-Walled Metal Structures in Buildings, May 1986, Stockholm: 239-246. IABSE Report - Volume 49. Stockholm.

Fasteners for Profiled Sheet Steel Diaphragms Associated with Steel Supporting Members

American Welding Society. 1981. Structural welding code sheet steel. ANSI/AWS D1.3-81. Miami, Florida.

Baehre, R. 1969,1971. Hopfogning av tunnvaggiga stalkonstruktioner [1 and (with Berggren) 2] (in Swedish - title translates to "Jointing of thin-walled steel structures"). Reports 4/69 and R30:1971. Statens Institut for byggnadsforskning. Stockholm.

- *_____1975. Sheet metal panels for use in building construction: current research projects in Sweden. <u>In</u> Proceedings Third International Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, November 1975, Missouri: 383-455. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.
- Baehre, R. and Berggren, L. 1973. Joints in sheet metal panels. * National Swedish Institute of Building Research, Document D8:1973. Stockholm. (Reproduced by U.S. Department of Commerce, National Technical Information Service as PB-231 493, 1974).
- Bakker, C. and Stark, J.W. 1974. Requirements specified for * joints. Acier-Stahl-Steel 10/1974: 423-426.
- Beck, V.R. 1974. Fatigue and static loading of shear panels. BHP * Melbourne Research Laboratory Report MRL 38/6. Clayton, Victoria.

- Beck, V.R. and Morgan, J.W. 1975. Appraisal of metal roofing under repeated wind loading - Cyclone Tracy, Darwin, 1974. Australian Department of Housing and Construction, Housing Research Branch, Technical Report No. 1. Melbourne.
- * Berry, J.E. 1976. Sheeting connections. University of Salford, Department of Civil Engineering, Report No. 76/77. Salford.
- * <u>1977.</u> European recommendations for the testing of connections in profiled sheeting. Acier-Stahl-Steel 2/1977: 70-72.

Blodgett, O.W. 1978. Report on proposed standards for sheet steel structural welding. <u>In</u> Proceedings Fourth International Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, June 1978, Missouri. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.

B.S.T. 1099. 1975. Draft Swedish Standard for the testing of shear connections in thin-walled structural members. B.S.T. 1099. Stockholm.

Building with Steel. 1974. Fabrication of steel sheet: joining. 17.

Cloutier, B. 1982. Tests of roof deck connections. McGill University, Department of Civil Engineering and Applied Mechanics, Structural Engineering Series 82-1. Montreal.

* Davies, J.M. 1978. Concentrated loads on light gauge steel diaphragms. Journal of Structural Mechanics 6(2): 165-194.

Department of Defense. 1967. Fasteners test methods. MIL-STO-1312. Washington, D.C..

- * European Convention for Constructional Steelwork. 1978. European recommendations for the testing of connections in profiled sheeting and other light gauge steel components. ECCS-XVII-77-3E, No. 21. CONSTRADO. Croydon.
- 1981. Preliminary European recommendations for the design of connections in thin-walled structural elements, part 1: design of connections. ECCS-T7-1981, TWG 7.2. (Draft for comment).
- * <u>1984</u>. European recommendations for the design and testing of connections in steel sheeting and sections. Publication No. 21. CONSTRADO. Croydon.
- * Fowler, P.P. 1966. Lecture on cladding fasteners. Central Electricity Generating Board. Guildford.

Fraczek, J. 1974. Development of comprehensive test procedures for connections in cold-formed steel. Cornell University, Department of Structural Engineering, Report No. 358. Ithaca, New York.

- * <u>1976.</u> Mechanical connections in cold-formed steel: comprehensive test procedures and evaluation methods. Cornell University, Department of Structural Engineering, Report No. 359. Ithaca, New York.
- * Grimshaw, J.A. 1979. Shear tests on mechanical connections in light gauge steel components. University of Salford, Department of Civil Engineering, Report No. 79/121. Salford.

- * Grossberndt, H. and Kniese, A. 1975. Untersuchung uber querkraftund zugkraftbeanspruchungen sowie folgerungen uber kombinierte beanspruchungen von schraubenverbindungen bei stahlprofilblechkonstruktionen. Der Stahlbau 44(10 and 11). (in German).
- * Haussler, R.W. and Pabers, R.F. 1973. Connection strength in thin wall metal roof structure. <u>In</u> Proceedings Second Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, October 1973, Missouri: 857-873. University of Missouri. Rolla, Missouri.
- * Hill, H.V. 1974. Connections and fasteners for light gauge steel structures. Acier-Stahl-Steel, 10/1974: 412-422.
- * Hulst, H.V. and Toma, A.W. 1977. Fastening of steel sheets for walls and roofs on steel structures: II - Tension forces in fasteners between sheets and understructure loaded by wind suction transversal load. TNO, Report No. BI-77-45/25.3.51210. Delft.
- Klee, S. and Seeger, T. 1973. Schwingfestigkeitsuntersuchungen an profilblech - bestigungen mit setzbolzen. Der Stahlbau, 42(10). (in German).
- *_____ 1979. Proposal for the simplified determination of allowable forces for connections in profiled sheeting. Technische Hochschule Darmstadt, Institut fuer Statik und Stahlbau. (in German with English summaries).
- * Nissfolk, B. 1976. Fatigue strength of joints in sheet metal panels, 1, riveted connections. Swedish Council for Building Research, Report R55:1976. Stockholm. (in Swedish with English summaries).

_____ 1979. Fatigue strength of joints in sheet metal panels, 2, screwed and riveted. Swedish Council for Building Research, Document D15:1979. Stockholm.

Pekoz, T. and McGuire, W. 1979. Welding of sheet steel. American Iron and Steel Institute Report.

- * Standards Association of Australia. 1973. Design and installation of self-supporting metal roofing without transverse laps. AS 1562. Sydney.
- * Stark, J.W.B. and Toma, A.W. 1978. Connections in cold-formed sections and steel sheets. <u>In</u> Proceedings Fourth International Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, June 1978, Missouri: 951-987. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.
- * <u>1979</u>. Fastening of steel sheets for walls and roofs of steel structures. <u>In</u> Proceedings International Conference on Thin-Walled Structures, April 1979, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow: 588-598. Granada, London.

Strnad, M. 1979. Screwed connections in profiled sheeting. <u>In</u> Proceedings International Scientific and Technical Conference on Metal Construction, May 1979. Katowice.

*_____1981. Fatigue strength of screwed fastenings in thin sheet components. The Structural Engineer 59B(3): 33-40.

- Strnad, M. and Pirner, M. 1978. Static and dynamic full-scale tests on a portal frame structure. The Structural Engineer 56B(3): 45-52.
- * Stol, H.G.A. and Toma, A.W. 1978. Fastening of steel sheets for walls and roofs on steel structures: IV - Comparison of test set-up for connections prescribed in the European recommendations with the real behaviour of the connections. TNO, Report No. BI-78-33/63.5.5461. Delft.
- Swedish Standards Institution. Connections in sheeting, determination of shear strength parallel to plane of sheeting. SIS 27 11 14. Stockholm.
- * Thomson, S. 1987. Research on and installation of stressed skin diaphragms. Stressed Skin Design Seminar, June 1987, Wellington. New Zealand Heavy Engineering Research Association and New Zealand Steel Limited. Auckland.
- * Toma, A.W. 1976. Fastening of steel sheets for walls and roofs on steel structures: I - Inventory of knowledge in the field of fastening of steel sheets. TNO, Report No. BI-76-86/25.3.51210. Delft.
- *_____ 1978. Fastening of steel sheets for walls and roofs on steel structures: IIIa - Considerations with respect to the influence of repeated windloads on connections of steel sheets; IIIb - The influence of variation of the temperature on connections of steel sheets. TNO, Report No. BI-78-22/63.5.5461. Delft.
- * 1978. Fastening of steel sheets for walls and roofs on steel

- structures: final report. TNO, Report No. BI-78-43/63.5.5461. Delft.
- * <u>1979.</u> Fastening steel sheets for walls and roofs to steel structures. Acier-Stahl-Steel 3/1979: 109-115.

Diaphragms and Applications in Stabilising Timber Structures

- * Boughton, G.N. 1982. The bracing behaviour and strength of ribbed metal roof cladding. <u>In</u> Proceedings of the Eighth Australasian Conference on the Mechanics of Structures and Materials, University of Newcastle, New South Wales.
- * 1982. Simulated wind tests on a house, part 2 results. James Cook University of North Queensland, Cyclone Testing Station, Technical Report No. 14. Townsville.
- *_____ 1983. Testing of a full scale house with simulated wind loads. <u>In</u> Proceedings Sixth International Conference on Wind Engineering, Gold Coast, Australia.
- * <u>1984.</u> Load transfer mechanisms within two types of domestic housing. <u>In</u> Proceedings Ninth Australasian Conference on the Mechanics of Structures and Materials, Sydney.
- * <u>1987.</u> Performance of domestic roofs under cyclonic loadings. <u>In</u> Preprint First National Structural Engineering Conference, Melbourne: 466-471. National Conference Publication No. 87/10. The Institution of Engineers, Australia.

- * Boughton, G.N. and Reardon, G.F. 1982. Simulated wind tests on a house, part 1 - description. James Cook University of North Queensland, Cyclone Testing Station, Technical Report No. 12. Townsville.
- *_____ 1983. Testing a high set house designed for 42 m/s winds, part 1 preliminary results. James Cook University of North Queensland, Cyclone Testing Station, Technical Report No. 19. Townsville.
- * Gebremedhin, K.G., Bahler, E.L. and Humphreys, S.R. 1987. A modified approach to post-frame design using diaphragm theory.
- * Gebremedhin, K.G. and Irish, W.W. 1986. Ultimate load-deflection characteristics and failure modes of ceiling diaphragms for farm buildings. Wood and Fibre Science 18(4): 565-578.
- * Gebremedhin, K.G. and Woeste, F.E. 1986. Diaphragm design with knee brace slip for post-frame buildings. Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers 29(2): 538-542.
- * Hausman, C.T. and Esmay, M.L. 1977. The diaphragm strength of pole buildings. Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers 20(1): 114-116.

Hoagland, R.C. 1983. Strength and stiffness of screw-fastened roof panels for pole buildings. Iowa State University, M.S. thesis. Ames, IA.

* Hoagland, R.C. and Bundy, D.S. 1983. Strength and stiffness of screw-fastened roof panels for pole buildings. Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers 26(2): 512-515.

*_____ 1983. Post frame design using diaphragm theory. Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers 26(5): 1499-1503.

Hurst, H.T. and Mason, J.P.H. 1960. Rigidity attributable to end walls and sheet-metal cladding on pole buildings. Virginia Polytechnic Institute.

Johnson, R.A. 1982. Stressed skin design of pole-framed buildings. University of Illinois, M.S. thesis. Urbana.

- * Johnson, R.A. and Curtis, J.O. 1984. Experimental verification of stressed-skin design of pole buildings. Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers 27(1): 159-164.
- * Nash, L.M. and Boughton, G.N. 1981. Bracing strength of corrugated steel roofing. James Cook University of North Queensland, Cyclone Testing Station, Technical Report No. 8. Townsville.
- * Turnbull, J.E. 1964. The design of diaphragm ceilings to resist wind loads. Canadian Society of Agricultural Engineers Annual Meeting, June 1964, Fredericton: Paper No. 64-008.
- *____ 1983. A summary of diaphragm design for wind bracing in stud-wall farm buildings. Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers 26(2): 549-556, 561.

- * Turnbull, J.E. and Guertin, S.M. 1975. Shear and buckling resistance of cladding materials used as structural diaphragms in farm buildings. Canadian Agricultural Engineering 17(1): 7-11.
- * Turnbull, J.E., McMartin, K.C. and Quaile, A.T. 1982. Structural performance of plywood and steel ceiling diaphragms. Canadian Agricultural Engineering 24(2): 135-140.
- * Turnbull, J.E., Thompson, J.A. and Quaile, A.T. 1985. Steel roof diaphragms for wind bracing in agricultural buildings. Canadian Society of Agricultural Engineers Annual Meeting, 23-27 June, Charlottetown.
- * <u>1986</u>. Steel roof diaphragms for wind bracing in agricultural building. Canadian Agricultural Engineering 28(2): 155-165.
- * White, R.N. 1978. Diaphragm action of aluminium-clad timber-framed buildings. American Society of Agricultural Engineers Paper No. 78-4501.
- * <u>1986</u>. Diaphragm action in aluminium-clad timber-framed buildings. <u>In Proceedings Thin-Walled Metal Structures in Buildings, May 1986,</u> Stockholm: 247-254. IABSE Report - Volume 49. Stockholm.

White, R.N. and Tocci, A. 1978. Diaphragm action in aluminium-clad timber framing systems. Cornell University, Department of Structural Engineering, Report No. 78-3. Ithaca, New York.

White, R.N., Warshaw, C. and Hart, J. 1977. Shear strength and stiffness of aluminium diaphragms in timber-framed buildings. Cornell University, Department of Structural Engineering, Report No. 370. Ithaca, New York.

Fasteners for Profiled Sheet Steel Diaphragms Associated with Timber Supporting Members

- * Boughton, G.N. 1982. The bracing behaviour and strength of ribbed metal roof cladding. <u>In</u> Proceedings of the Eighth Australasian Conference on the Mechanics of Structures and Materials, University of Newcastle, New South Wales.
- * Masse, D.I. and Turnbull, J.E. 1981. Screwed connections for corrugated steel diaphragm ceilings in farm buildings. Canadian Society of Agricultural Engineers Annual Meeting, August 1981, St. Catherines. CSAE and ASAE Paper No. 81-228.
- * Masse. D.I., Turnbull, J.E. and Williams, C.J. 1983. Screwed connections for corrugated steel diaphragm ceilings in farm buildings. Canadian Agricultural Engineering 25(1): 95-99.
- * Nash, L.M. and Boughton, G.N. 1981. Bracing strength of corrugated steel roofing. James Cook University of North Queensland, Cyclone Testing Station, Technical Report No. 8. Townsville.
- * Turnbull, J.E. 1983. A summary of diaphragm design for wind bracing in stud-wall farm buildings. Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers 26(2): 549-556, 561.
- White, R.N. 1978. Diaphragm action of aluminium-clad timber-framed buildings. American Society of Agricultural Engineers Paper No. 78-4501.

1986. Diaphragm action in aluminium-clad timber-framed buildings. * In Proceedings Thin-Walled Metal Structures in Buildings, May 1986, Stockholm: 247-254. IABSE Report - Volume 49. Stockholm.

MISCELLANEOUS PUBLICATIONS

- Acier-Stahl-Steel. 1974. Cold roll formed components. 10/1974. *
- Agriculture Canada. 1985. Canadian farm building handbook. * Agriculture Canada, Engineering and Statistical Research Branch. Ontario. (Draft for comment).
- American Society for Testing and Materials. 1969. Nails for use * with wood and wood based materials. ASTM D2478-69. Philadelphia, Pa..
- 1974. Testing metal fasteners in wood. ASTM D1761-74. * Philadelphia, Pa..
- 1976. Standard methods for conducting strength tests of panels for * building construction. ASTM E72-42a. Philadelphia, Pa..
- Andrews, E. 1986. Steel cladding an economic long-term answer. * Roof Cladding and Insulation, January 1986: 54-58.
- Armstrong, L.D. and Schuster, K.B. 1977. Tighten your braces. * In Proceedings Eighteenth Forest Products Conference, Highett, Victoria: 1-4.

- 1980. The behaviour of common wall cladding in structural * diaphragms under repetitive loading. In Proceedings Seventh Australasian Conference on the Mechanics of Structures and Materials, May 1980, University of Western Australia, Nedland: 168-172.
- Baker, K.N. and Kavanagh, K.T. 1976. Behaviour of light steel * buildings in high wind environments. <u>In</u> Proceedings Metal Structures Conference, November 1976, Adelaide: 35-39. The Institution of Engineers, Australia.
- Balazs, P. 1980. Stressed skin action in composite panels * comprising steel sheeting and boards. Swedish Council for Building Research, Document D40:1980. Stockholm.
- Bartak, A.J.J., Kaye, D.C. and George, T.J. 1977. * The new grandstand at the Crystal Palace National Sports Centre. The Structural Engineer 55(7): 293-300.
- Beck, V.R. 1976. Investigations into the behaviour of building * components under cyclonic condition. The Chartered Builder 19(March-June): 25, 27-29, 31-32.
- 1977. Random wind loading on metal roof cladding. Paper presented * to Workshop on Guidelines for Cyclone Product Testing and Evaluation, July 1977, Experimental Building Station, North Ryde.
- 1979. Failure of wall claddings and finishes a survey. * Experimental Building Station, Technical Record 448. Sydney.

- * Beck, V.R. and Stevens, L.K. 1976. Constant repeated loading of corrugated sheeting. <u>In</u> Proceedings Metal Structures Conference, November 1976, Adelaide: 40-45.
- *_____ 1979. Wind loading failures of corrugated roof cladding. Civil Engineering Transactions CE21(1): 45-56. The Institution of Engineers, Australia.
- Bell, S. 1984. The CLASP experience. <u>In</u> Proceedings of Symposium on Design Life of Buildings, November 1984, Institution of Civil Engineers: 35-48. Thomas Telford. London.
- * Brett, P.R. 1982. An alternative approach to industrial buildings. The Structural Engineer 60A(11): 347-354.
- British Board of Agrement. 1986. Precoated metal sheet roofing and cladding. Method of Assessment and Testing MOAT No. 34:1986. London.
- British Standards Institution. 1973. Code of practice for sheet roof and wall coverings, galvanized corrugated steel, metric units. CP 143: Part 10. London.
- *_____ 1975. Hot-dip zinc-coated steel sheet and coil. BS 2989. London.
- *_____1976. Code of practice for performance and loading criteria for profiled sheeting in building. BS 5427. London.
- *_____1980. Hot-dip zinc coated corrugated steel sheets for general purposes. BS 3083. London.

- *_____ 1987. Structural use of steelwork in building, code of practice for design of cold formed sections. BS 5950: Part 5. London.
- _____ Structural use of steelwork in building, code of practice for design in light gauge sheeting, decking and cladding. BS 5950: Part 6. London. (in preparation).
- Structural use of steelwork in building, specification for materials and workmanship: cold formed sections and sheeting. BS 5950: Part 7. London. (in preparation).
- _____ Structural use of steelwork in building, code of practice for stressed skin design. BS 5950: Part 9. London. (in preparation).

British Steel Corporation. 1974. New Covent Garden Market. Tubular Structures, 24(July). B.S.I. Tubes Division. Corby.

- * Brookes, A.J. 1984. Cladding methods in New Zealand: a state of the art report. Building Research Association of New Zealand, Technical Paper No. P40. Judgeford.
- * Brookes, A.J. and Hampton, J. 1985. Precoated metal cladding. Architects' Journal, 17 April 1985: 66-73.
- * Bryan, E.R. and Sloper, B.J. 1965. The T-beam effect of roof sheeting. The Structural Engineer 43(5): 163-166.
- * Building Operating Management. 1986. Standing seam metal roofing system. 33(1): 68, 70, 72.

 Building Research Association of New Zealand. 1984. Nail fixing of corrugated steel roofing. Building Information Bulletin 235. Judgeford.

Butler, W.H. 1973. Steel in the new Covent Garden. Constructional Steelwork, April/1973.

- Byrne, S.M. 1976. Dynamic load testing of sheet-metal roofing. <u>In</u> Proceedings Metal Structures Conference, November 1976, Adelaide: 46-50.
- * Canadian Sheet Steel Building Institute. 1984. Standard for steel farm cladding. CSSBI 21M-84. Ontario.
- * 1986. Standard for steel roof deck. CSSBI 10M-86. Ontario.
- *_____1986. Thermal resistance of insulated sheet steel wall. CSSBI Research Report.
- * Constructional Steel Research and Development Organisation. 1973. Stressed skin roof on Dalestorth Primary School. Project Study 4, Publication 7/73. CONSTRADO. Croydon.
- *_____1978. Spaced steel sheet roofing for farm buildings. CONSTRADO. Croydon.
- *_____1980. Profiled steel cladding and decking for commercial and industrial buildings. CONSTRADO. Croydon.
- * Corrugated Steel Manufacturers' Association, New Zealand Steel

- Limited, The Profile Cladding Manufacturers' Association and Building Research Association of New Zealand. 1981. Profiled metal roofing - design and installation handbook. Auckland.
- * Davies, J.M. 1983. Discussion of Brett (1982). The Structural Engineer 61A(7): 222-225.
- * Douhan, L. 1980. Deformation limits for roofs and walls of profiled sheeting. Swedish Council for Building Research, Document D32:1980. Stockholm.
- * Ellen, C.H., Tu, C.V. and Yuen, W.Y.D. 1985. Theory for thermally induced roof noise. Journal of Structural Engineering, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 111(11): 2302-2319.
- * Errera, S.J., Pincus, G. and Fisher, F.P. 1967. Columns and beams braced by diaphragms. Journal of the Structural Division, Proceedings of the American Society of Civil Engineers 93(ST1): 295-318.
- * European Convention for Constructional Steelwork. 1977. European recommendations for the testing of profiled metal sheets. ECCS Publication No. XVII-77-2E, No. 20. CONSTRADO. Croydon. (Reprinted 1982).
- *_____ 1983. European recommendations for the design of profiled sheeting. Publication No. 33. CONSTRADO. Croydon.

- * 1983. European recommendations for good practice in steel cladding and roofing. Publication No. 34. CONSTRADO. Croydon.
- * 1984. European recommendations for mechanical fasteners for use in steel sheeting and sections: information and testing (June 1983). Publication No. 35. CONSTRADO. Croydon.
- Experimental Building Station. 1978. Guidelines for the testing * and evaluation of products for cyclone-prone areas. Experimental Building Station, Technical Record 440. Sydney.
- Falconer, P. 1987. Element design guide, roofs: 4 profiled sheet * roofs. Architects' Journal, 1 April 1987: 49-56.
- Hancke, D. 1974. Coated and profiled steel sheet as a wall * component: assessment from an architect's viewpoint. European Coil Coating Association. Brussels.
- Hill, H.V. 1966. Light-gauge steel construction. <u>In</u> Proceedings * Industrialized Building and the Structural Engineer Conference, May 1966: 3-12. The Institution of Structural Engineers. London.

Installation of sheet metal diaphragms. TI sheet 080-07. Hilti. Liechtenstein.

- Johansson, G. 1986. Built up roofs wind uplift resistance. In * Proceedings Thin-Walled Metal Structures in Buildings, May 1986, Stockholm: 373-378. IABSE Report - Volume 49. Stockholm.
- John Lysaght (Australia) Limited. 1980. Sheet steel fabrication * handbook - 1: sheet steel. Australia.

- 1980. Sheet steel fabrication handbook 4: fastening and sealing. * Australia.
- 1983. Sheet steel fabrication handbook 2: design. Australia. *
- * Josey, B. 1986. Element design guide external walls, 4: profiled metal sheet. Architects' Journal, 30 July 1986: 33-38.
- Lawson, M. 1983. Industrial appeal. Building, 15 July 1983: 76. *
- * Lawson, R.M. 1976. A look at North American practice in the use of corrugated sheeting. The Structural Engineer 54(7): 268-269.
- Lawson, R.M. and Nethercot, D.A. 1985. Lateral stability of I-* The Structural Engineer beams restrained by profiled sheeting. 63B(1): 1-7, 13.
- Lazenby, D.W. 1985. Structural codes today and tomorrow, BS * 5950: structural use of steelwork in building. The Structural Engineer 63A(10): 309-311.
- Maricic, A. 1979. Cold-formed structures of high strength steel. * In Proceedings International Conference on Thin-Walled Structures, April 1979, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow: 386-397. Granada. London.

Light gauge metal roof decks. 1970. Metal Roof Deck Association. London.

- * Morgan, J.W. 1977. Dynamic load testing of roof sheeting. Paper presented to the Workshop on Guidelines for Cyclone Product Testing and Evaluation, July 1977, Experimental Building Station, North Ryde.
- * <u>1978.</u> Evaluation under dynamic load of three means of connecting battens to rafters in cyclone prone areas. Experimental Building Station, Technical Record 445. Sydney.
- *_____1981. The performance of connections of cold-formed members used as battens and rafters subjected to loading by cyclonic wind. Experimental Building Station, Technical Record 464. Sydney.
- * <u>1981.</u> The effect of prick punching on the resistance of custom-orb sheeting to loading by cyclonic winds. Experimental Building Station, Technical Record 463. Sydney.
- * Morgan, J.W. and Beck, V.R. 1975. Sheet metal roof failures by repeated loading. Australian Department of Housing and Construction, Housing Research Branch, Technical Report No. 2. Melbourne.
- <u>1975.</u> A preliminary investigation of the holding power of roof fixings. Experimental Building Station Report. Sydney.
- *______ 1976. Failure of sheet metal roofing under repeated wind load. <u>In</u> Proceedings Annual Engineering Conference, May 1976, Townsville: 290-294. The Institution of Engineers, Australia.

- * 1977. Failure of sheet metal roofing under repeated wind loading. Civil Engineering Transaction CE19(1). The Institution of Engineers, Australia.
- * National Federation of Roofing Contractors. 1982. Profiled sheet metal roofing and cladding, a guide to good practice. Great Britain.
- *_____1982. Roofing and cladding in windy conditions. Great Britain.
- * Neal, T.P. 1985. Nail-sheet interaction of corrugated steel roof cladding. Building Research Association of New Zealand, Research Report R45. Judgeford.
- * New Zealand Heavy Engineering Research Association (HERA). 1986. Notes on economical single-storey construction seminar. Auckland.
- * New Zealand Steel Limited. 1978. Galvanised flat products: the hard facts. Auckland.
- *_____ 1981. Joining and sealing colour coated steel. Coil Coating Division, Bulletin No. 5. Auckland.

Nilsson, B. and Soderberg, J. 1982. Sheet metal on walls and roofs, a review of experience. Swedish Council for Building Research, Report R113:1982. (in Swedish).

* Osbourn, D. 1985. Construction studies 2: high tech cladding. Architects' Journal, 4 September 1985: 71-82.

- * Plem, E. 1980. The structural performance of corrugated sheeting due to combined flexural and membrane action. Swedish Council for Building Research, Document D10:1980. Stockholm.
- * Property Services Agency. 1979. Technical guidance steel cladding - non-loadbearing profiled asbestos cement, steel and aluminium. PSA Method of Building, MOB 01.705. London.
- * Rang, T.N. 1979. Load and resistance factor design of bolted connections. <u>In</u> Proceedings International Conference on Thin-Walled Structures, April 1979, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow: 752-763. Granada, London.
- Reardon, G.F. 1980. Connections and fastenings. James Cook University of North Queensland, Cyclone Testing Station, Technical Report No. 7. Townsville.
- * Reardon, G.F. and Boughton, G.N. 1984. Testing a Logan unit house designed for 63 m/s winds. James Cook University of North Queensland, Cyclone Testing Station, Technical Report No. 22. Townsville.
- Roofing, Cladding and Insulation. 1985. Roofing review (part 1). July/August 1985: 56-69.
- *_____ 1986. Review metal claddings. January 1986: 56-73.
- * Sheppard, M. 1983. Long life cladding. Building, 15 July 1983: 77.

- * Soreide, T.H., Husebye, H.S. and Brekke, H. 1979. Ultimate load analysis of connections and compression flanges in thin-walled structures. <u>In</u> Proceedings International Conference on Thin-Walled Structures, April 1979, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow: 561-575. Granada, London.
- * Standards Association of Australia. 1973. Design and installation of self-supporting metal roofing without transverse laps. AS 1562. Sydney.
- *_____ 1974. Determination of basic working loads for metal fasteners for timber metric units. AS 1649. Sydney.
- * 1974. Cold-formed steel structures code. AS 1538. Sydney.
- *_____1980. Design and installation of metal roofing. AS 1562. Sydney.
- * 1981. Steel structures code. AS 1250. Sydney.
- * Standards Association of New Zealand. 1977. Code for design of steel structures (with commentary). NZS 3404. Wellington.
- *_____ 1978. Specification for hot-dip galvanized corrugated steel sheet for building purposes (in metric units). NZS 3403. Wellington.
- * <u>1978.</u> Specification for hot-dipped zinc coated steel coil and cut lengths. NZS 3441. Wellington.
- * 1981. Code of practice for timber design. NZS 3603. Wellington.

- * <u>1984</u>. Code of practice for general structural design and design loadings for buildings. NZS 4203. Wellington.
- * Stephenson, F. 1985. Designing with metal roof systems. Roof Design, January/February 1985: 38-45.
- * Swedish Standards Institution. Profiled sheeting, watertightness at points of attachments, testing. SIS 27 11 16. Stockholm.
- * Tomasetti, R.L. 1973. Innovative designs with cold-formed members and sheets. <u>In</u> Proceedings Second Speciality Conference on Cold-Formed Steel Structures, October 1973, Missouri: 734-761. University of Missouri-Rolla. Rolla, Missouri.
- * Whiteside, I.D. 1984. Review of future New Zealand wood supply and quality. <u>In</u> Proceedings of Pacific Timber Engineering Conference, May 1984, Auckland: 715-722. Institution of Professional Engineers, New Zealand.

BUILDING RESEARCH ASSOCIATION OF NEW ZEALAND INC. HEAD OFFICE AND LIBRARY, MOONSHINE ROAD, JUDGEFORD.

The Building Research Association of New Zealand is an industry-backed, independent research and testing organisation set up to acquire, apply and distribute knowledge about building which will benefit the industry and through it the community at large.

Postal Address: BRANZ, Private Bag, Porirua

ISSN 0113 - 3675